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The Company

The Company is an investment company with
variable capital incorporated in the Netherlands and
its shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange
and Euronext Amsterdam Stock Market. It is a
member of the Association of Investment
Companies.

Total assets (less current liabilities) at 31 December
2012 were €135.3 million (£109.7 million).

Objective 

The investment objective of the Company is to
achieve growth of capital through investment in
quoted small and medium-sized companies in
Europe, excluding the United Kingdom.

A high distribution policy has been adopted and
dividends have been paid mainly out of other
reserves.

Management

The Board has appointed F&C Investment Business
Limited (F&C) as investment managers. The notice
period is six months and further details of the
investment management contract can be found in
the ‘Report of the Management Board Director’
within this report.

FCA Management BV acts as the Management
Board and KASBANK NV acts as custodian and
administrator.

Capital Structure

The Company has a simple capital structure, being
financed exclusively by ordinary shares. It may also
employ gearing up to 20 per cent of assets.

How to Invest

F&C Management Limited operates a number of
investment plans which facilitate investment in the
shares of the Company. Details are contained in the
‘How to Invest’ section of this report. Stock
Exchange dealing can be conducted through your
usual stockbroker. See note below.

Share Price

The ordinary shares are quoted on the London
Stock Exchange (www.londonstockexchange.com)
(Reuterscode: EAT.L) and Euronext Amsterdam
Stock Market (www.euronext.com) (Reuterscode:
EURT.AS) and their price is published daily in Het

Financieele Dagblad as well as the Financial Times
and other newspapers. The share price is also
available from the website noted below.

Trading primarily takes place on the London Stock
Exchange.

Website

The Company’s internet address is:
www.europeanassets.eu

The Company’s share price, net asset value and fact
sheets are available from this website.

Investment Institution

European Assets Trust NV is a closed-end
investment company and an investment institution
within the meaning of the Dutch Act on Financial
Supervision (‘Wft’). The Company is licenced by
Autoriteit Financiele Markten (the Dutch Financial
Markets Authority).
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Company Summary

Note: Stock market and currency movements may cause the value of shares and the income from them to fall as well as rise and investors

may not get back the amount originally invested. 

If you have sold or otherwise transferred all of your Ordinary Shares in European Assets Trust NV, please forward this document

and the accompanying form of proxy as soon as possible to the purchaser or transferee, or to the stockbroker, bank or other

agent through whom the sale or transfer was, or is being, affected, for delivery to the purchaser or transferee.



European Assets Trust Net Asset Value and Share Price v HSBC Smaller Europe (ex UK) Index

l Total return* performance for 2012

Euro Sterling

Net asset value per share 32.0% 28.2%

HSBC Smaller Europe (ex UK) Index 20.4% 17.0%

l Total return* performance for the 3 years to December 2012

Euro Sterling

Net asset value per share 52.8% 39.5%

HSBC Smaller Europe (ex UK) Index 14.6% 4.6%

l The annual dividend for 2013 is €0.5502 per share (2012 €0.441, net)

equivalent to 6% of the opening net asset value per share

Euro Sterling

January 2013 dividend paid per share €0.1834 £0.15345

(further dividends payable in May and August)

Financial Highlights for the Year

Total Return Performance*

All performance returns are calculated to 31 December 2012.

*Total return wherever used in this document means capital performance with dividends reinvested.

For further information relating to historic performance refer to page 38.
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Performance Summary for the Year to 31 December 2012

Euro Sterling
2012 2011 2012 2011

Euro Sterling
2012 2011 2012 2011

Total Return (for the year)

Net asset value total return per share* 32.0% –7.6% 28.2% –9.9%

Market price total return per share 40.1% –4.5% 36.0% –6.9%

HSBC Smaller Europe (ex UK) Index 20.4% –21.8% 17.0% –23.8%

Capital (at year end)

Total assets (less current liabilities) €135.3m €109.5m £109.7m £91.5m

Net asset value per share – basic €9.17 €7.36 743.4p 614.8p

Net asset value per share – treasury† €9.12 €7.32 739.7p 611.7p

Market price per share €8.54‡ €6.51‡ 692.5p 544.0p

HSBC Smaller Europe (ex UK) Index 338.77 289.66 274.78 241.95

Distributions (per share)

Total distributions paid in cash¶ (for 2013 the annual dividend is €0.5502 per share) €0.4698 €0.5337 37.8p 46.2p

Discount at year end (difference between share price and treasury net asset value)# 6.4% 11.1%

Net Gearing at year end (0%=nil geared position)§ 6% 10%

Ongoing Charges (note 16)

For 2013, ongoing charges 1.5%« 1.70% 1.64%

Portfolio Turnover** (UK method – note 15) 22% 28%

High Low High Low

2012 Year’s Highs/Lows

Net asset value per share €9.26‡ €7.61‡ 7.54p 6.09p

Market price per share €8.54‡ €6.44‡ 6.92p 5.38p

# The narrowest discount on the ordinary shares during 2012 was 6.0 per cent and the widest discount was 16.6 per cent in sterling terms.

* Based on net asset value per share – basic.

† In accordance with the AIC calculation method where shares are held in treasury; subject to the Company’s resale policy, including limiting dilution to 

0.5 per cent of net asset value per annum. Based on shares held in treasury since the liquidity enhancement policy was put in place in 2005.

‡ London Stock Exchange prices/net asset values converted into Euros at relevant exchange rate during the year.

§ The gearing percentage indicates the extra amount by which shareholders’ funds would rise or fall if total assets were to rise or fall and is total assets (less

cash and cash equivalents) divided by shareholders’ funds expressed as a percentage.

** Portfolio turnover=((purchases+sales)÷2)÷average assets.

¶ Gross of Dutch withholding tax.

« Adjusting the 2012 ongoing charges figure of 1.7% for the reduction in plan administration costs to be incurred in 2013.

Sources: Morningstar/Datastream/HSBC
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2012 review

2012 was an excellent year for our Company, with a

net asset value total return* per share of +28.2 per

cent in Sterling (+32.0 per cent in Euros), materially

outperforming the benchmark index return of +17.0

per cent (+20.4 per cent in Euros). We were also

delighted to announce an increase in the dividend for

2013 of +24.8 per cent. This was achieved with low

portfolio turnover of 22 per cent, which again

underlines the long term fundamental approach to

investing that European Assets Trust undertakes.

Our belief is that conviction investments in high

quality businesses will deliver strong returns through

the market cycle. The Company has outperformed

the benchmark index over one, three and five years.

I am encouraged that over the past ten years,

despite the well publicised upheaval in the Eurozone,

the Company's net asset value total return* per

share in Sterling has been +247 per cent, whilst the

share price total return* has been +350 per cent,

reflecting the Board‘s efforts to reduce the discount.

The Company’s performance over ten years has

significantly outperformed many of the major equity

indices, including the UK (FTSE 100 Index) and US

(S&P 500 Index).

European small and medium sized companies as a

whole had a strong year and delivered stock market

returns not only above their large company

counterparts, but also the US indices, the global

benchmark, and the European and global bond

indices. The catalyst for better performance in

Europe was when the president of the European

Central Bank announced that he would do ‘whatever

it takes’ to save the Euro. The promise of further

fiscal and banking integration in the region, and

ultimately a more robust version of European

Monetary Union, has allowed investors to consider

the region again in their allocation decisions. 

As should be expected with our Company, the

performance principally came from good stock

selection. The Manager’s decision to add to the

value areas of the portfolio also helped as the market

recovered from the summer. We maintain a core of

high quality businesses within the portfolio, but are

looking to add to areas that have been unduly

punished by investors. Our investments in quality

financials is a case in point. We were able to buy

good quality businesses at good prices because the

sector has been shunned by investors. These have

helped contribute to the Company’s strong

performance this year.

Distribution

The level of dividend paid by the Company each year

is determined by the Board in accordance with the

Company’s distribution policy.  The Board has stated

that, barring unforeseen circumstances, it will pay an

annual dividend equivalent to 6 per cent of the net

asset value of the Company at the end of the

preceding year.  The dividend is funded from a

combination of accumulated capital gains and

income.

The Board has already announced that applying the

distribution policy results in a total dividend for 2013

of Euro 0.5502 per share (2012: Euro 0.441 per

share, net).  This represents a 24.8 per cent increase

in the 2013 dividend compared with the previous

year. The 2013 dividend will be paid in three equal

instalments of Euro 0.1834 per share on 31 January,

31 May and 30 August.  The January dividend of

Euro 0.1834 per share was paid to shareholders on

31 January 2012 and amounted to 15.345p per

share in Sterling terms.

Shareholders may elect to receive dividends by way

of further shares in the Company rather than cash.

Where shareholders so elect, they will receive shares

Sir John Ward CBE Chairman

Chairman’s Statement
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based on the net asset value of the Company; the

shares may trade in the market at a discount or

premium to net asset value.  Subject to personal

circumstances and shareholders taking their own tax

advice, UK resident individual shareholders who

receive a scrip dividend should not be liable to UK

income tax on such dividend.  Instead, UK capital

gains tax rules should apply.

Gearing

The Company has a banking facility to allow the

Manager to gear the portfolio within the 20 per cent

of assets level permitted under the Articles.  The

total facility available of Euro 18.5 million is Euro-

denominated and flexible, allowing the Manager to

draw down amounts for such periods as required.

The Manager made use of the facility during 2012

where investment opportunities arose and at the

year-end the Company was 6 per cent geared. 

Liquidity enhancement policy

The Company’s share price discount to net asset

value was 6.4 per cent as at 31 December 2012

compared with 11.1 per cent at the previous year-

end. On average over the year, the Company’s

discount to net asset value stood at 9.3 per cent, a

level which was lower than European smaller

company peer funds. During 2012 the Company

bought back 140,000 of its own shares at an

average discount of 14.7 per cent (2011: 50,000

shares at an average discount of 12.6 per cent),

thereby enhancing net asset value per share for

continuing shareholders.  These shares are held in

treasury and are available for release back to the

market. No shares were sold from treasury during

2012 (2011: nil), however since the year end the

Company has issued 750,000 shares from treasury

at an average discount of 3.4 per cent raising £5.7

million in total for 2013 to date.  

Outlook

We have seen the start of a recovery in the region,

but the potential is still significant. Europe remains

cheap on a relative and absolute measure, and any

improvement in economics should lead to a flow of

money from bonds, which are over-priced on most

reasonable measures, and other regions, such as

the US, where the valuation differentials are extreme.

We have not yet seen any robust economic

improvement; however, at some point it seems

reasonable to believe that improving credit

conditions will flow through to the real economy. It is

important to say though that our investments do not

rely on any regional economic improvement. Rather

we like companies that can generate structural

growth independent of the economic cycle. The fact

is that you can buy these at large discounts

precisely because they are listed in Europe. That is

why we are confident about the prospects for our

Company.

Shareholder meetings

The Company’s Annual General Meeting will be held

on 25 April 2013 at the Sheraton Amsterdam Airport

Hotel in Amsterdam, Netherlands.  In addition, the

Company holds a Shareholders’ and Investors’

Briefing in London each year.  The London Briefing

this year will take place on 7 May 2013 at 11.30am

at Pewterers’ Hall, Oat Lane, London EC2V 7DE

and will include a presentation from the Investment

Manager on the Company and its investment

portfolio.  A light buffet will be served at the end of

the briefing.  The Board looks forward to welcoming

as many shareholders as are able to attend this

year.  An invitation is included separately with this

Report.

Sir John Ward CBE

Chairman

1 March 2013
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Investment Managers

The investment management contract is with F&C

Investment Business Limited (F&C) which is a

company within the F&C Asset Management plc

group (F&C group). The F&C group is an investment

specialist with £95.2 billion of funds under

management (as at 31 December 2012). It is a leading

asset manager in both the UK and Europe and the

shares of the parent company are listed on the

London Stock Exchange.

F&C provides investment management and other

services to a range of investment companies.

Investment Objective and Process

The aim of European Assets Trust is to provide

shareholders with capital growth and a high

distribution policy has been adopted. The Company

utilises fully the resources of F&C’s European Equities

team. The portfolio is relatively concentrated (40–50

names) and has an emphasis on high quality

businesses.

The team focuses on detailed fundamental analysis with

particular scrutiny on balance sheets and cashflows

with an aim to invest in businesses with a long term

time horizon. A key tenet of the approach is the belief

that the most important factors that influence stock

returns are both the value creation of the business and

the initial price paid to own the equity. Consequently a

significant emphasis is placed on valuation.

David Moss
Fund Manager

David Moss Fund Manager, is a Director, European

Equities at F&C. David joined F&C in 1996 from

Barclays Bank and is the lead manager for

European equities for Foreign and Colonial

Investment Trust. He is also the lead manager at

F&C for pan-European and Eurozone funds with

specialist research responsibilities in the financials

sector as well as for large and mid cap European

equities.

Sam Cosh
Lead Manager

Sam Cosh Lead Manager, is a Director, European

Equities at F&C. Sam joined F&C in 2010 from BNP

Investment Partners and was appointed Lead

Investment Manager for European Assets Trust

during 2011. Sam is also the lead manager of F&C

European Small Cap Fund and manages the

European investments of F&C Global Smaller

Investment Trust plc. He has thirteen years’

experience in European equities, principally within

small and mid cap mandates.

Investment Manager and Investment Process
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European Assets Trust had an excellent year

delivering a net asset value total return of

+28.2% in Sterling terms, materially ahead of

the benchmark and a share price total return of

+36.0%, helped by the narrowing of the discount

rate from 11.1% to 6.4%.

Market review: 

Ultimately 2012 was a strong year for holders of

European small company assets with our benchmark,

the HSBC Smaller Europe (ex-UK) Index delivering a

total return of +17.0% in Sterling terms (20.4% in

Euros). The year was however one of two halves. As

we discussed in our interim report, while the year

started strongly following co-ordinated liquidity

injections from global central authorities and the Long

Term Refinancing Operation from the European

Central Bank (‘ECB’), this soon gave way to further

concern about the survival of the Euro. A number of

elections from member countries and a Spanish

banking crisis all contributed to a volatile six months

for the region. However, the single most important

moment for holders of European equity occurred in

July when Mario Draghi, president of the European

Central Bank pledged to do ‘whatever it takes’ to

save the Euro. The ensuing second half rally

produced returns for European small and mid

capitalised equities that were above the large

capitalised counterpart, but also above the global

index1, the US2, and European and global bond

indices3.

In the final analysis, 2012 was the year that Germany

finally took control of the Euro crisis. The ECB’s

insolvency guarantee was important precisely

because it had the support from Merkel’s

government. The conclusion being that Germany

would support the political project that is the

Eurozone in exchange for credible commitments from

the member states for structural reforms in addition to

the austerity agenda that has dominated the

headlines. This means a transition to a new version of

the European Monetary Union which involves

elements of both a banking and fiscal union, and

ultimately a more robust monetary union.

While a more flexible economy and accountable

system is of course extremely positive for the

fundamentals of the region’s economic health, the

recovery in equity prices was more to do with short

term relief that the Euro would not collapse rather

than any sanguine long term analysis. Indeed despite

the policy actions and the improvement in prices,

European equity fund flows continued to be negative

as late as November. However, what should be clear

is that flows follow returns and not the other way

round. European equities continue to be an asset

class that is ranked lowly in allocation decisions, but

remains very good value on both an absolute and

relative basis. The allocation does not make sense

when the quality of the investment assets in the

region should improve from here.

Performance review: a strong year for

shareholders as European Assets Trust

delivered strong returns.

European Assets Trust had a strong year delivering a

rise in net asset value total return per share of

+28.2% in Sterling terms (32.0% in Euros). We also

saw the share price discount to net asset value fall

from 11.1% at the end of 2011 to 6.4% at the end of

2012 and 3.0% today, thereby helping to improve

share price returns. We can therefore look back on an

excellent year for the Company and its shareholders.

As is usual for our portfolio, stock selection drove the

majority of this performance. Our largest position

Glanbia had a particularly strong year rising +77.8%.

Glanbia is an exceptionally well managed Irish

domiciled business with roots in Irish dairy processing

and consumer foods. Management have been

transforming the business towards global nutritionals,

which delivers high growth at high margins. This

transformation took a significant step forward this

year with the sale of 50% of its domestic dairy

processing business. The result is that the company

now derives about 70% of its profits from global

nutritionals. Additionally, the major owner of the

company, an Irish dairy co-operative, reduced its

stake. The transformation of the business and the

improved liquidity of the shares have attracted greater

interest in the business, which was reflected in the

strong returns we witnessed during the year.

Manager’s Review
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We had a number of other strong performers within

consumer goods, of which C&C Group was notable

rising +57.9%. The producer of Magners cider and

Tennent’s lager, made significant progress, with an

acquisition in the US premium cider market. With

ownership of The Vermont Hard Cider Company,

C&C Group now has around 40% of the premium

cider category in the US, a fast growing market with

an extremely low share of the wider alcoholic drinks’

market.

We also had some

strong performers in the

Industrial segment, with

the German robotics

company Kuka the pick,

rising +90.0%. While

there was no specific

event that drove this

performance, the

company benefitted from

strong results and order

momentum, driven by

the greater adoption of

automation within

industrial manufacturing. This is a structural trend that

was the pillar of the initial investment case.

Our financial holdings also delivered good

performance. The sector had been ignored by

investors, but we have been positive towards the

quality names for some time. When investors take a

broad brush view towards an area our view is that it

provides an opportunity for us to buy some quality

assets at a discount to their intrinsic value. We were

rewarded with this approach, particularly in the

second half of the year, as a number of our

companies delivered strong performance. Of note

was Azimut the Italian asset manager which rose

+76.2% during the period.

The disappointing performers were Neopost, the

manufacturer of postal franking machines, which fell

-21.6%, and D’Ieteren, the car distributor and

windscreen repairer, which fell -11.5%. Neopost

suffered from disappointing growth figures. We

continue to believe that the company is going through

a transition, and that the current growth figures are

not indicative of a long term trend. The company also

delivers us a 9% dividend yield, which we are happy

to receive until they start to demonstrate some

growth again. We were more disappointed with

D’leteren who produced two profit warnings through

the year, the second of which was released just

before Christmas. We are currently reviewing the

investment case and will report back during our

regular releases.

The final comment about performance this year was

that it was delivered with low portfolio turnover; we

did minimal trading this year. The turnover figure was

22%4 and was artificially boosted by adding to

gearing and funding the dividend payment. This

demonstrates the long term investment approach

with which we manage your Company.

Investment Outlook; Europe has the potential to

be the attractive recovery play in equity

markets.

Our investment thesis remains constant despite the

rally that we have seen; European equity remains a

neglected asset class trading at a significant discount

on both a relative and absolute basis, which provides

excellent investment opportunities. These

opportunities are most attractive within the diverse

and poorly understood small and medium sized

company market. 

As of writing this report, 2013 has seen a very strong

start. We would however caution that recoveries are

rarely smooth and Europe clearly has some

challenges, not least the outcome of the Italian

elections and later in the year the German electorate

will make their feelings known in their September

elections. Additionally, the economic statistics within

Europe are still disappointing. However, there are

reasons to remain positive; particularly over the long

term (should equity investments ever be made on

short term considerations?).

The fact that European equity funds were

experiencing outflows in aggregate as recently as

November tells you that the mindset of investors is

slow to change. Indeed it had become fashionable to

be as pessimistic as possible and anticipate ‘Black

Swans’ (the high risk of improbable extreme events)

at every juncture. It is of course during these times

that you can buy assets cheaply and make the best

returns over the long term. 

The rise in equity prices thus far has been in response

to the dramatic improvement in credit conditions

brought about by policy actions. However, European

equity prices are still cheap on both an absolute and

relative basis. If we look at the US the differential is

most dramatic. The policy makers in the US have

Manager’s Review continued
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been rewarded; they took policy action early,

improved their credit markets and are now seeing

these improvements flow through to the real

economy. However, this is well known and reflected in

valuations. The most positive argument for European

equities is that we will see this happen in Europe;

slow improvements in credit conditions filtering

through to economies and improving corporate

profits. European equities are valued at low multiples

on cyclically low profits. A recovery in corporate

profits will encourage a flow to the asset class,

particularly from bonds, which are over valued on

most sensible metrics. This has the potential to be a

very powerful driver of European equity market

returns.

In this scenario, small and medium sized companies

will benefit disproportionately as they tend to be more

geared to growth than their large company

counterparts. Additionally, while the cost of capital

has fallen dramatically for secure assets, the

corporate surpluses have continued to increase. With

greater confidence in the economic outlook we

should see the prospect of greater Merger and

Acquisition (‘M&A’) activity providing a spur to the

small and medium sized company market in which

we invest.

However, our strategy remains constant; we aim to

invest in high quality businesses, managed by proven

managers, at good prices. Over the last year, when

the market pessimism was high we added to the

value areas of the portfolio. These areas tend to do

well during a market recovery and this has proved to

be the case so far. We are excited about the

prospects for European Assets Trust.

Sam Cosh

Lead Investment Manager

F&C Investment Business Limited

1 March 2013
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Portfolio Split by Market Capitalisation (as at 31/12/12)

10.8%

41.9%

14.7%

16.0%
16.6%

Telecommunications 1.6%

Consumer
Services 15.8%

Healthcare 3.0%

Basic Materials 3.8%

Technology
9.0%

Utilities 1.4%

Consumer
Goods 28.6%

Portfolio Split by Sector (as at 31/12/12)

Industrials 15.9%

Financials 20.9%



Company Valuation % of Country of

Euro 000’s Total Assets Incorporation

C&C Group
C&C Group is a leading premium cider manufacturer with a presence in the UK,

Ireland and the US. Premium cider is an attractive category within the long

alcoholic drinks’ market, both from a profitability and growth perspective.

Following the recent acquisition of Vermont Hard Cider Company,

C&C now has a market share of around 40% in the fast growing

US cider market. 6,073 4.5 Ireland

Glanbia
Glanbia is a nutritionals business with operations globally.  Its roots are in Irish

milk production but the company has recently focused its operations on its

global nutritionals business where it makes high margins and achieves good

growth. It currently makes most of its profits from performance nutrition, 

customised pre-mix and ingredient technologies. 6,013 4.4 Ireland

Azimut Holding
Azimut Holding is one of the largest independent asset managers in Italy.

The company manages open-end mutual and pension funds, and offers

investment advice and insurance. It also has its own distribution network of

financial consultants who only distribute the company's products in 

northern and central Italy. 4,903  3.6 Italy

Nutreco
Nutreco is the global leading animal nutrition and fish feed company. It is the

market leader in salmon feed, which benefits from structural growth of the

aquaculture market. The company operates throughout Europe and is

expanding in faster growing markets within the animal nutrition market such

as Brazil, China and Russia. 4,396  3.2 Netherlands

Gerresheimer
Gerresheimer is a leading supplier of high quality glass, plastic packaging

and system solutions for the global pharmaceutical, cosmetic and food

industries. It supplies over thirty of the world’s leading pharmaceutical

and biotech companies. 4,344 3.2 Germany

Ringkjoebing Landbobank
Ringkjoebing Landbobank is a conservatively managed, strongly capitalised

local Danish bank. In its core area the company has 50% market share and is

taking share from weaker competitors. The bank also has small asset 

management and securities trading departments. 4,296 3.2  Denmark

Exact Holdings
Exact is a professional (B2B) software solutions provider with a very strong

position in the Netherlands, where it derives most of its profits. It sells

a suite of enterprise resource planning products to SMEs, which includes

accounting systems, working capital management systems and business

performance information. 4,033 3.0 Netherlands

Kuka
Kuka is a leading robotics manufacturer and systems integrator. Its roots are in

German automotive supply and industrial activities, but the company has gone

through a period of intensive restructuring and is now the only European “pure

play” robotics business. It is the number one supplier of robots to German

autos and is expanding its presence within general industries. 4,008 3.0 Germany

Amer Sports
Amer Sports is a manufacturer and distributor of sports and fitness equipment.

The company has a significant presence in winter sports and a collection of well

known brands under its umbrella, which include Atomic, Salomon, Arc’teryx,

Wilson and Mavic. New management is refocusing the business to achieve

better growth and profitability. 3,947 2.9 Finland

CTS Eventim
CTS Eventim is a leading distributor of tickets for concerts, theatre productions

and sporting events. The company operates through a traditional platform (ticket

booths) as well as an online platform, which benefits from the structural migration

from offline to online ticketing. Within the geographies that CTS operate they are

the clear market leader (>50% market share). 3,715 2.7 Germany

Ten largest investments 45,728 33.7

Investment Portfolio
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Company Valuation % of Country of

Nature of Business Euro 000’s Total Assets Incorporation

Origin Enterprises Agronomy Services 3,706 2.7 Ireland

Topdanmark Non-life Insurance 3,610 2.7 Denmark

Rational Cookery Equipment 3,564 2.6 Germany

Aer Lingus Airline 3,470 2.6 Ireland

Tomra Systems Recycling Equipment 3,403 2.5 Norway

ASM International Semi-conductor Equipment 3,351 2.5 Netherlands

Christian Hansen Bacteria Culture Producer 3,332 2.5 Denmark

Storebrand Insurance and Asset Management 3,323 2.5 Norway

Tod's Branded Leather Goods 3,272 2.4 Italy

Aareal Bank Property Financing 3,245 2.4 Germany

Twenty largest investments 80,004 59.1

EFG International Private Bank 3,231 2.4 Switzerland

Irish Continental Shipping 3,151 2.3 Ireland

Viscofan Sausage Skin Manufacturer 3,037 2.2 Spain

Wincor Nixdorf ATM Manufacturer 3,016 2.2 Germany

Andritz Capital Goods Machinery Manufacturer 2,917 2.2 Austria

Forbo Flooring, Adhesives and Conveyor Belts Producers 2,903 2.2 Switzerland

Paddy Power Licensed Betting 2,878 2.1 Ireland

Bolsas y Mercados Espanoles Regional Stock Exchange 2,860 2.1 Spain

D'Ieteran Auto Distribution and Glass Repair 2,814 2.1 Belgium

Lanxess Chemicals 2,744 2.1 Germany

Thirty largest investments 109,555 81.0 

Symrise Speciality Chemicals 2,693 2.0 Germany

Neopost Mailroom Equipment Manufacturer 2,601 1.9 France

Baron de Ley Wine Producer 2,593 1.9 Spain

Betsson Licensed Betting 2,520 1.9 Sweden

Partners Group Alternative Asset Management 2,462 1.8 Switzerland

Takkt Office Equipment 2,449 1.8 Germany

Ansaldo STS Rail Components 2,430 1.8 Italy

Jazztel Broadband Telecom 2,320 1.7 Spain

Davide Campari - Milano Beverages 2,276 1.7 Italy

Rubis Liquid Storage and Distribution 2,214 1.6 France

Forty largest investments 134,113 99.1

Mediaset España Comunicación Free to Air Television 2,205 1.6 Spain

IFG Financial Services 2,089 1.5 Ireland

Lindt & Sprüngli Branded Chocolate 2,002 1.5 Switzerland

SAF Holland Commercial Vehicle Equipment 1,930 1.4 Germany

Continental Farmers Agricultural Producer 1,459 1.2 Ireland

Total investments 143,798 106.3

Net current liabilities (8,512) (6.3)

Equity shareholders' funds/total assets (less current liabilities) 135,286 100.0

Investment Portfolio continued
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Valuation Net Purchases/ Appreciation/ Valuation

Rank Rank 2011 (Sales) (Depreciation) 2012

(2012) (2011) Company Euro 000s Euro 000s Euro 000s Euro 000s

1 2 C&C Group 4,753 (1,120) 2,440 6,073

2 1 Glanbia 4,933 (2,338) 3,418 6,013

3 10 Azimut Holding 3,302 (673) 2,274 4,903

4 8 Nutreco 3,355 139 902 4,396

5 7 Gerresheimer 3,569 (121) 896 4,344

6 12 Ringkjoebing Landbobank 3,140 151 1,005 4,296

7 3 Exact Holdings 4,423 (420) 30 4,033

8 20 Kuka 2,770 (1,010) 2,248 4,008

9 14 Amer Sports 3,064 120 763 3,947

10 13 CTS Eventim 3,107 113 495 3,715

11 19 Origin Enterprises 2,784 107 815 3,706

12 11 Topdanmark 3,197 (541) 954 3,610

13 5 Rational 3,689 (1,044) 919 3,564

14 28 Aer Lingus 2,448 (706) 1,728 3,470

15 25 Tomra Systems 2,518 111 774 3,403

16 22 ASM International 2,711 116 524 3,351

17 38 Christian Hansen 1,699 655 978 3,332

18 27 Storebrand 2,456 1,034 (167) 3,323

19 34 Tod’s 2,074 69 1,129 3,272

20 – Aareal Bank – 3,409 (164) 3,245

59,992 (1,949) 21,961 80,004

‘ – ’ Not in the twenty largest investments last year.



Sir John Ward CBE

Chairman

(age 72) was formerly

chairman of Scottish

Enterprise and has held a

wide range of public and

private appointments and

chairmanships. He is a past

chairman of CBI Scotland.

Laurence Jacquot

(age 56) has extensive

experience of financial markets

and asset management in

Continental Europe, having

worked at COB, the French

financial services authority

regulator, and SCOR, the

leading French reinsurance

company. Latterly, she has

been an investment consultant

involving asset allocation and

equity fund selection.

Duco Sickinghe

(age 54) has significant

industrial and commercial

experience. He is currently

chief executive officer of

Telenet NV, the biggest cable

operator in Belgium. He has

held senior positions in

companies in several

Continental European

countries.

Neville Cook

(age 68) was formerly

chairman of Anglo Irish Bank

Suisse S.A., a bank in

Geneva. He is also a director

of various public and private

companies.

Professor Robert van der Meer

(age 63) was formerly a

member of the management board

of Fortis. He currently combines a

professorship in finance at the

Rijksuniversiteit Groningen with

several supervisory board positions

at quoted companies (Corio,

KASBANK and OBAM) and

with non-quoted companies

as well as advisoryships with

pension funds and charities.

Giles Warman

Senior Independent Director

(age 65) was previously

employed by Numis

Corporation and is a director

of Finsbury Growth Trust. He

has a wide experience of

marketing investment

products in the UK and

Europe.

Supervisory Board
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Management Board
The Management Board consists of a single Director, FCA

Management BV, a limited liability company incorporated in the

Netherlands. It has its registered office in Rotterdam. FCA

Management BV carries out the day-to-day management of the

Company in accordance with the general directives of the

Supervisory Board.

The Articles of Association and the latest annual report of FCA

Management BV are available at its offices at Weena 210-212,

Rotterdam.

Wilbert van Twuijver and Tim Koster represent

FCA Management BV on the Management Board of European

Assets Trust NV.

Report of the Management Board Director
Accounts

We have pleasure in submitting to the Shareholders the Company’s Accounts for the year to 31 December 2012 as

prepared by us and approved by the Supervisory Board. They have been examined by Ernst & Young Accountants LLP,

and their report is included later.

The Revenue Account for the year shows a net profit of €33,468,539. Dividends in cash totalling €0.4698 per share were

paid during 2012. A dividend of €0.1834 per share was announced and paid in January 2013. Shareholders are offered the

option of a scrip dividend. Dividends paid have mainly been funded from other reserves (for tax purposes from the

reinvestment reserve) in accordance with the Company’s distribution policy.

We recommend that the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012, together with the notes, be adopted.

Wilbert van Twuijver

representing the

Managing Director

Tim Koster

representing the

Managing Director

Michael Campbell

Company Secretary

In addition to investment management, the F&C group provides other services to the

Company, including company secretarial, financial and marketing.

Michael Campbell acts as Company Secretary to the Company. A chartered

accountant, he has provided accounting and company secretarial services to

investment companies at F&C group for over twenty years.

Company Secretary
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Supervisory Board Directors

The Supervisory Directors who held office at 31 December 2012 are shown on the page of this report entitled

‘Supervisory Board’.

Sir John Ward, Mr Neville Cook and Mr Giles Warman had a beneficial interest of 7,600 shares, 15,300 shares and

14,500 shares respectively in the Company at 1 March 2013. None of the other Supervisory Directors of the Company or

the families of any Director owned any interest in the shares of the Company during the year under review or at any date

up to 1 March 2013. Sir John Ward, Neville Cook and Giles Warman will be proposed for re-appointment as Supervisory

Directors at the General Meeting.

Management Board Director

FCA Management BV provides management and legal compliance services to the Company. These services can be

terminated by either party by giving three months’ notice of termination. Any termination will take effect as of the end of

the calendar year in which the notice is given. FCA Management BV receives a fixed fee paid on a quarterly basis.

During the year under review, the regular management and service fee paid by the Company to FCA Management BV

was €97,440 (including Dutch VAT).

Investment Managers

F&C Investment Business Limited (F&C) provides investment management and other services to the Company. These

services can be terminated by the Company at any time by giving six months’ notice of termination. F&C receives a

quarterly fee, payable in advance, equal to 0.2 per cent of the value of funds under management, excluding the value

of any funds managed by the F&C group and 50 per cent of the value of funds managed by other managers, based on

the value of total assets less current liabilities (excluding borrowings from current liabilities) at the end of the preceding

quarter.

Since the end of the period, the Boards have reviewed the appropriateness of the Manager’s continuing appointment.

In carrying out the review, consideration was given to past investment performance and the ability of the Manager to

produce satisfactory investment performance in the future. Consideration was also given to the standard of other services

provided which include company secretarial, financial and marketing. The length of notice of the investment management

contract and fees payable to the Manager were also reviewed. Following this review, it is the Directors’ opinion that the

continuing appointment of the Manager on the terms agreed is in the interests of shareholders as a whole.

The Investment Managers, in the absence of explicit instructions from the Board, are empowered to exercise discretion in

the use of the Company’s voting rights. Only where there are matters of particular concern will the investment manager

contact management to explore the issues. The policy of F&C is to seek to maximise shareholder value by constructive

use of votes at company meetings and by endeavouring to use its influence as an investor with a principled approach,

including socially responsible and environmental factors, to corporate governance. In 2012 there was active use of votes.

The Board reviews voting undertaken on behalf of the Company. The Manager’s Responsible Investment Report can

found on its website www.fandc.com.

Custodian

KASBANK NV acts as custodian and provides administrative services for European Assets Trust NV and has granted a

credit facility to the Company.

Management of Assets during the Year

The Company has invested its assets during the year in accordance with its stated investment policy. Investment risk

has been spread by investing in a diversified geographical spread of investments across a variety of industrial sectors.

At 31 December 2012 there were 45 investments in the portfolio. At each Board meeting, the Board receives detailed

information on the Company’s investments and the Managers present on the investment portfolio and its performance.

The Company can borrow up to a maximum of 20 per cent of investments. At 31 December 2012 net borrowings stood

at 5.9 per cent of investments. The Company has a banking facility with KASBANK NV. This credit facility was employed

during the year and at 31 December 2012 the Company had borrowed €8,485,185 (31 December 2011: €10,658,843).

Details on the Company’s performance over the year are contained in the Chairman’s Statement and Manager’s Review.

A historical record of key performance indicators for the Company is set out in the Shareholders’ Information section.
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The Company’s assets consist mainly of listed equity shares and its principal risks are therefore market-related. Detailed

explanations of these risks and the way in which they are managed are contained in the notes to the accounts. The

Boards seek to mitigate these risks in a number of ways including: through review of the investment environment and the

Company’s investment portfolio, policy setting and reliance on contractual obligations.

Share Capital

The Company is aware, having been notified, that the following shareholder owned 5 per cent or more of the issued

share capital (excluding treasury shares) of the Company at 1 March 2013:
Number of Percentage

Shares Held Held

Clients of F&C Asset Management plc 2,046,640 13.2

Clients of Brewin Dolphin Limited 806,229 5.2

In addition, F&C Retail Products owned 5,971,962 shares or 38.5 per cent of the issued share capital (excluding

treasury shares) of the Company at 1 March 2013. F&C has no discretionary voting rights over these shares.

The Company issued 19,506 shares during the year by way of its scrip dividend option and bought back 140,000 of its

own shares to be held in treasury. The total number of treasury shares held by the Company as at 31 December 2012,

since the liquidity enhancement policy was put in place, is 3,841,000. The total number of treasury shares held by the

Company as at 31 December 2012 is 10,176,406. Since the year end the Company has sold 750,000 shares from

treasury at an average price of £7.72 per share.

The Company entered into a Liquidity Enhancement Agreement with F&C in November 2005. The purpose of this

agreement is to enhance the liquidity in the trading of the Company’s shares on the London Stock Exchange. The

agreement is for a continuous period. F&C has sole discretion, in the name of the Company, to implement share buy

backs or sales assuming the parameters and requirements laid down by the Board in the agreement are met. In

summary, where there are shareholders wishing to sell and the average share price discount to net asset value measured

over a rolling 5 business day period is 5 per cent or more, subject to other relevant requirements, shares may be bought

back based upon the share price equivalent to a discount of 5 per cent to the net asset value, adjusted for portfolio

realisation costs depending upon market circumstances. The maximum number of shares that can be bought back in any

three month period is 10 per cent of issued share capital. The price at which shares are sold from treasury is subject to

limitations on asset dilution. The absolute level of dilution through the sale of treasury shares is restricted to 0.5 per cent

of net asset value in any one year, and treasury shares which are sold at a discount to net asset value will only be sold

where the discount at which the shares are to be sold is lower than the average discount at which the shares have been

acquired by the Company measured over preceding financial periods and in addition at a price which is not less than the

market bid price at the time of sale.

Administrative organisation and internal controls (‘In Control’ – Statement)

Statement referred to in section 121, sub 1 Decree on the Supervision of the conduct of Financial undertakings under the

Dutch Act on Financial Supervision.

We have adopted a description of the administrative organisation and internal controls which comply with the

requirements as laid down in the Dutch Act on Financial Supervision and the Decree on the Supervision of the conduct of

Financial undertakings under the Dutch Act on Financial Supervision.

We have evaluated the various aspects of the administrative organisation and internal controls during the financial year

under review. We believe, to our best knowledge, that the framework of the administrative organisation and internal

controls as referred to in section 4:14 of the Dutch Act on Financial Supervision complies with the requirements as laid

down in this act and related rules. In addition, these systems have shown themselves to be reasonably effective in the

year under review and thus offer a reasonable degree of certainty that the financial reporting does not contain any

material misstatements.

The Management Board Director

1 March 2013

Report of the Management Board Director continued
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Corporate Governance

European Assets Trust is incorporated as a Dutch Company. Its shares are listed on the stock exchanges in Amsterdam

and in London. Accordingly, the Company adheres to Dutch corporate governance requirements, insofar as they are

relevant to externally managed closed-end investment funds, and follows the general principles of UK corporate

governance good practice.

In the year under review, European Assets Trust did not comply fully with the provisions of the Dutch Corporate

Governance Code (the ‘Code’). In fact, it is not possible for externally managed investment institutions to apply the Code

in full, as the preamble to the Code acknowledges. Details of the instances of non-compliance are explained in the

Corporate Governance (detail) section of this Annual Report under the Dutch corporate governance heading.

The Company monitors developments in corporate governance codes and legislation. The Company believes its current

articles of association, rules and regulations and practices are consistent with this new legislation.

Corporate Structure

The Company has a two-tier board structure comprising a Management Board and a Supervisory Board.

With FCA Management BV appointed as Management Board Director, the corporate management functions are

separated from the administration and custody functions performed by KASBANK NV and investment management and

other functions performed by F&C Investment Business Limited. The Management and Supervisory Boards believe that

this arrangement enhances the Company’s management and corporate governance.

The Management Board, FCA Management, is entrusted with the management of the Company and is obliged to act in

accordance with the general directives of the Supervisory Board concerning the financial and investment policy of the

Company. A contract with the Management Board Director sets out its responsibilities.

The Supervisory Board (‘the Board’) is responsible for supervising the policy of the Management Board and the general

course of the Company’s affairs and business. The Board currently consists of six Directors, all of whom are

non-executive. Sir John Ward is Chairman.

Further Details

Further details regarding the Company’s corporate governance arrangements are set out in the section entitled ‘Corporate

Governance (detail)’.

Corporate Governance (summary)
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as at 31 December

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Balance Sheet
after appropriation of the Result

18 European Assets Trust NV

                                                                                                                                                                                     2012                        2011

                                                                                                                                                       Notes                        Euro                         Euro

Investments

Securities                                                                                                                                             1            143,798,006            120,201,243

Receivables

Other receivables                                                                                                                                  2                  176,265                   273,087

Total current assets                                                                                                                                               176,265                   273,087

Current liabilities (due within one year)

Bank overdraft                                                                                                                                      3               (8,485,185)            (10,658,843)

Accrued liabilities                                                                                                                                 4                  (202,730)                 (291,563)

Total current liabilities                                                                                                                                       (8,687,915)            (10,950,406)

Total of receivables and other assets less current liabilities                                                                        (8,511,650)            (10,677,319)

Total assets less current liabilities                                                                                                                135,286,356            109,523,924

Capital and reserves 

Issued share capital                                                                                                                             5                6,790,002                6,845,429

Share premium account                                                                                                                       6              16,646,031              17,504,713

Other reserves                                                                                                                                      8            111,850,323              85,173,782

                                                                                                                                                                         135,286,356            109,523,924

Net asset value per Ordinary Share – Basic                                                                                  9                        9.17                         7.36



for the year ended 31 December

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Revenue Account
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                                                                                                                                                                                     2012                        2011

                                                                                                                                                       Notes                        Euro                         Euro

Income from Investments

Dividends from securities                                                                                                                                       3,306,636                3,386,717

Withholding taxes                                                                                                                                                                 –                      (4,029)

                                                                                                                                                           10                3,306,636                3,382,688

Movements on investments – realised                                                                                                                  7,316,661                8,717,108

Movements on investments – unrealised                                                                                                            25,090,966             (18,879,053)

                                                                                                                                                                           32,407,627             (10,161,945)

Interest received                                                                                                                                                                   –                       2,357

Total investment gain/(loss)                                                                                                                             35,714,263               (6,776,900)

Investment management fee                                                                                                               11               (1,017,335)              (1,033,096)

Administrative expenses                                                                                                                      12               (1,065,257)                 (955,034)

Interest charges                                                                                                                                  13                  (163,132)                 (198,239)

Total operating expenses                                                                                                                                 (2,245,724)              (2,186,369)

Net profit/(loss)                                                                                                                                                 33,468,539               (8,963,269)

Earnings per share                                                                                                                                                      2.27                        (0.60)

Proposed income allocation
                                                                                                                                                                                     2012                        2011

                                                                                                                                                                                     Euro                         Euro

Net profit/(loss)                                                                                                                                                     33,468,539               (8,963,269)

Dividends                                                                                                                                                              (6,948,581)              (7,981,906)

Dividends distributed in shares                                                                                                                                  156,583                   200,218

Undistributed income carried forward                                                                                                                   26,676,541             (16,744,957)

(negative amount debited from Other Reserves)

Earnings per share                                                                                                                                                        2.27                        (0.60)

Dividends per share                                                                                                                                                    0.4698                     0.5337

Earnings per share are based on the net profit/(loss) for the year divided by 14,769,153 (2011: 14,892,464) shares, being the weighted average

number of shares in circulation during the year.



The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Statement of Cash Flows
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as at 31 December

                                                                                                                                                                                     2012                        2011

                                                                                                                                                       Notes                        Euro                         Euro

Cash flow from investment activities

Dividends                                                                                                                                                              3,400,638                3,328,253

Purchase of securities                                                                                                                                        (21,924,032)            (35,462,611)

Sales of securities                                                                                                                                 1              30,743,448              32,615,047

Administrative expenses                                                                                                                                       (1,111,140)                 (981,717)

Investment management fee                                                                                                               11               (1,017,335)              (1,033,096)

Interest received                                                                                                                                                                  –                       2,357

Interest charges                                                                                                                                                       (211,814)                 (146,087)

                                                                                                                                                                            9,879,765               (1,677,854)

Cash flow from financing activities

Credit facility                                                                                                                                                         (2,173,658)               9,830,607

Dividends                                                                                                                                              8               (6,791,998)              (7,781,688)

Repurchase of own shares                                                                                                                   7                 (914,109)                 (371,065)

                                                                                                                                                                           (9,879,765)               1,677,854

Cash and cash equivalents

Net decrease for the year                                                                                                                                                    –                              –

Balance as at 1 January                                                                                                                                                      –                              –

Balance as at 31 December                                                                                                                                                 –                              –

The balance of cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and end of the year ended 31 December 2012 was nil. The net movement during

the year ended 31 December 2012 was nil. This is due to the Company’s use of a banking facility (refer to Note 3).



General

European Assets Trust N.V. (the ‘‘Company’’), registered in Amsterdam, the Netherlands, and having its offices in

Rotterdam, the Netherlands, is a closed-end investment company with variable capital. The Company was granted a

renewed licence pursuant to the Dutch Financial Supervision Act by the Authority for the Financial Markets, the

supervisory body in the Netherlands, on 30 June 2006.

The prospectus information prepared for the Company is included in the Company’s Annual Report and Accounts each

year which can be obtained at the Company’s registered office. As required under the Dutch Financial Supervision Act the

Company has prepared an AO/IC Manual describing its administrative and internal control procedures.

The Annual Accounts 2012 have been prepared in accordance with the Dutch Financial Supervision Act and have also

been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the Netherlands.

The financial year of the Company equals the calendar year. The comparative figures included in these financial statements

refer to the financial year 2011.

The functional and reporting currency for the Company is the euro.

Investments

Listed investments are valued at the closing bid price on the valuation date on the relevant stock markets.

Unquoted investments are valued by the Management Board Director. As at 31 December 2012, the Company did not

own any unquoted investments.

All movements in value as well as profits and losses on realisation are recognised as income and are accounted for in the

Revenue Account.

Own shares held by the Company

The Company is allowed to purchase its own shares. Any such shares purchased are not cancelled and are available for

sale by the Company. In line with the Dutch Guidelines for Annual Reporting for investment funds, own shares held by the

Company are deducted in arriving at the share capital and share premium in the balance sheet and the difference between

their cost and paid-up amount is deducted from Other reserves. On a sale of such shares, the difference between the

proceeds of sale and nominal value is credited to the share premium account.

Share premium account

This reserve originates from the issue of shares in 1972 and 1983, and from the purchase and sale of shares from

treasury.

Other assets and liabilities

Other assets and liabilities are shown at face value. Where considered necessary, provisions have been deducted from

outstanding receipts.

Income

(a) Dividends are recognised on an ex-dividend date basis and interest is accrued on a daily basis.

(b) If the Company elects to receive a stock dividend in lieu of a cash dividend, an amount equal to dividends not

received is included in income.

(c) When the Company receives a stock dividend when there is no cash alternative, an amount equal to the nominal

value of the shares issued is included in income to the extent that such stock dividend is regarded as revenue for

Dutch tax purposes.

Accounting Policies

Annual Report and Accounts 2012 21



(d) Other interest includes interest on credit bank balances and interest received from tax authorities.

(e) Movements on investments include all movements in the value of the investments during the financial year as well

as profits and losses on realisation.

Expenses

General administrative expenses are dealt with on an accruals basis. All expenses are charged to the Revenue Account.

Transaction costs in respect of purchases and sales of investments are included in Movements on investments –

unrealised (purchase costs) and Movements on investments – realised (sales costs).

Taxation

As the Company has qualified as an investment institution (‘Beleggingsinstelling’) under Dutch tax law, it has been subject

to corporation tax at a zero rate; so long as it qualifies that way and distributes in cash its annual distributable income as

defined for tax purposes, no liability to Dutch tax arises on income or capital gains. For the calculation of the distributable

income, all movements on investments and transaction costs arising on purchases and sales of investments are credited

or charged to the Company’s reserves. Other expenses are charged to the Revenue Account and the reserves based on

the proportion between the fiscally defined capital reserve and overall equity at the beginning of the year.

Foreign currency translation

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet

date. Exchange differences on investments are accounted for in the Revenue Account. Profits and losses in foreign

currencies are converted into euros at the exchange rate on the transaction date.

Rates of exchange as at 31 December (with regard to euro).

2012 2011

Danish Krone 0.13403 0.13451

Norwegian Krone 0.13629 0.12897

Pound Sterling 1.23289 1.19717

Swedish Krone 0.11659 0.11221

Swiss Franc 0.82864 0.82264

Statement of cash flows

The Statement of Cash Flows is prepared using the direct method. Cash and cash equivalents also include cash held at

banks.

Accounting Policies continued
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1 Investments

2012 2011

Euro Euro

Listed investments as at 31 December incorporated in:

Austria 2,916,849 2,727,102

Belgium 2,814,296 2,276,669

Denmark 11,238,035 8,035,342

Finland 3,947,196 3,063,600

France 4,815,257 6,912,206

Germany 31,707,545 23,101,923

Greece – 1,209,580

Ireland 28,838,022 21,987,885

Italy 12,880,259 12,014,095

Netherlands 11,780,914 13,359,268

Norway 6,726,455 4,973,647

Spain 13,015,160 13,308,069

Sweden 2,520,042 –

Switzerland 10,597,976 7,231,857

143,798,006 120,201,243

Investments in Denmark, Norway, Sweden and Switzerland are priced in local currencies and converted to Euros. There were no unquoted

investments at 31 December 2012 and 2011.

2012 2011

Euro Euro

The changes in securities are shown below:

Market value as at 1 January 120,201,243 127,630,993

Purchases during the year 21,932,584 35,347,242

Sales during the year (30,743,448) (32,615,047)

111,390,379 130,363,188

Change in value and results on realisation 32,407,627 (10,161,945)

Market value as at 31 December 143,798,006 120,201,243

Transaction costs

During the year the Company incurred transaction costs of €110,724 (2011: €156,274) on the purchase and sale of investments.

Notes to the Accounts
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2 Other receivables

Other receivables at 31 December 2012 include €142,542 receivable dividends (31 December 2011: €180,450) and €33,723 receivable from

Dutch and other tax authorities (31 December 2011: €89,819) in connection with refundable foreign dividend withholding taxes.

3 Banking Facility

The Company has a banking facility with KASBANK N.V. The total amount of the banking facility available to the Company may vary from

time to time depending on the value of the Company’s investments, and currently will not exceed €18,500,000. The credit facility

arrangement is part of an overall custody agreement between the Company and KASBANK N.V. The agreement is entered into for an

indefinite period of time and can be terminated by either party with due observance of a notice period of 60 days. For amounts drawn under the

facility, an interest rate equal to the one month Euribor plus 1.50% per annum applies; for the undrawn part of the facility an availability

commission of 0.15% per annum is paid. As at 31 December 2012, the Company had drawn down under this facility €8,485,185 (31 December

2011: €10,658,843). As part of the custody agreement, the Company has granted a first right of pledge over its investments as a continuing

security for due payments of all liabilities to KASBANK N.V. including the amounts drawn under the banking facility.

4 Accrued liabilities

This item includes accrued expenses and creditors.

5 Issued share capital

The Company is an investment company with a variable capital.

2012 2012 2011 2011

Shares Euro Shares Euro

Balance as at 1 January 14,881,368 6,845,429 14,912,652 6,859,820

Stock dividend 19,506 8,973 18,716 8,609

Shares repurchased (see note 7) (140,000) (64,400) (50,000) (23,000)

Balance as at 31 December 14,760,874 6,790,002 14,881,368 6,845,429

2012 2011

Euro Euro

30,000,000 authorised shares of €0.46 each (2011: €0.46) 13,800,000 13,800,000

The number of shares issued and outstanding as at 31 December 2012 amounts to 24,937,280 (31 December 2011: 24,937,280), of which

10,176,406 (31 December 2011: 10,055,912) shares are held by the Company in treasury.

6 Share premium account
2012 2011

Euro Euro

Balance as at 1 January 17,504,713 17,861,387

Decrease as a result of stock dividend (8,973) (8,609)

Decrease as a result of shares repurchased (849,709) (348,065)

Balance as at 31 December 16,646,031 17,504,713

7 Repurchase of own shares

During 2012 the Company purchased in total 140,000 of its own shares in two transactions (2011: 50,000 in one transaction), and did not sell

any shares from treasury (2011: none). The repurchase of treasury shares was in accordance with the stated policy and conditions set by the

Company during 2005 for the buy-back and sale of shares.

The repurchase of own shares in 2012 amounted to €914,109 equal to an average price of €6.53 per share. There were no unsettled or unpaid

transactions as at 31 December 2012.

The repurchase of shares in 2011 amounted to €371,065, equal to an average price of €7.42 per share. There were no unsettled or

unpaid transactions as at 31 December 2011.
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8 Other reserves
2012 2011

Euro Euro

Balance as at 1 January 85,173,782 101,918,739

Add: net profit/(loss) 33,468,539 (8,963,269)

Less: interim dividends paid in cash (6,791,998) (7,781,688)

Balance as at 31 December 111,850,323 85,173,782

9 Net asset value/net income

Comparative figures for development in capital and income:

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Euro Euro Euro Euro Euro

Net asset value 135,286,356 109,523,924 126,639,946 110,061,059 88,039,510

Number of shares 14,760,874 14,881,368 14,912,652 15,228,760 16,370,208

Net asset value per share 9.17 7.36 8.49 7.23 5.38

Dividend income 3,306,636 3,382,688 2,839,173 2,470,406 4,238,375

Movements on investments 32,407,627 (10,161,945) 24,888,420 31,378,994 (119,566,533)

Interest/other income – 2,357 253 24,770 249,132

Total investment gain/(loss) 35,714,263 (6,776,900) 27,727,846 33,874,170 (115,079,026)

Administrative expenses (1,065,257) (955,034) (1,030,445) (954,649) (1,279,288)

Investment management fee (1,017,335) (1,033,096) (904,376) (746,659) (1,586,584)

Interest charge (163,132) (198,239) (78,554) (87,847) (995,237)

Tax benefit – – – 1,088,329 – 

Net income/(loss) 33,468,539 (8,963,269) 25,714,471 33,173,344 (118,940,135)

Dividend and interest income per share* 0.22 0.23 0.19 0.16 0.27

Gains/(losses) on investments per share* 2.19 (0.68) 1.64 2.01 (7.21)

Expenses per share* (0.14) (0.15) (0.13) (0.11) (0.24)

Tax benefit per share – – – 0.07 –

Net income/(loss) per share* 2.27 (0.60) 1.70 2.13 (7.18)

Dividends paid per share 0.4698 0.5337 0.4613 0.3551 0.8535

Ongoing charges** 1.70% 1.64% 1.72% 1.71% 1.77%

*Returns per share based on the weighted average number of shares in circulation during the year.

** For the definition of ongoing charges reference is made to Note 16.
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10 Income 2012 2011

Euro Euro

Interest and dividends from securities, after deduction of

irrecoverable taxes, are related to investments in:

Austria 93,700 72,405

Belgium 71,522 28,483

Denmark 122,671 98,213

Finland 112,332 81,120

France 201,416 307,194

Germany 624,023 523,793

Ireland 719,458 592,463

Italy 297,660 345,307

Netherlands 536,386 702,241

Norway 67,417 37,327

Spain 397,254 479,662

Sweden 499 –

Switzerland 62,298 114,480

3,306,636 3,382,688

11 Investment management fee 2012 2011

Euro Euro

Remuneration of the Investment Manager 1,017,335 1,033,096

The remuneration of the Investment Manager consists of a quarterly fee paid in advance equal to 0.2 per cent of the value of total assets less

current liabilities (excluding borrowings from current liabilities).

12 Administrative expenses 2012 2011

Euro Euro

Remuneration of the Supervisory Directors (see note 17) 152,363 147,347

Remuneration of the Management Director (see note 17) 97,440 94,665

Travel expenses 53,794 44,065

Indemnity insurance costs 18,184 17,954

Auditor’s remuneration 58,822 54,740

Fund administration fee 74,521 75,850

Broker fees 35,443 37,018

Advisory costs 50,111 58,782

Marketing, plan administration, advertising and printing costs 270,634 276,084

Custody fees 66,656 60,401

Bank administration charges 51,534 39,371

Other expenses 135,755 108,129

VAT reimbursement – (59,372)

1,065,257 955,034

Other expenses include mainly Dutch and UK listing, registration and other regulatory fees and miscellaneous costs. The auditor’s

remuneration for 2012 comprises an amount of €48,590 in respect of the audit of these financial statements. During 2011 a one-off

reimbursement of VAT was received from the Dutch tax authorities.
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13 Interest charges

2012 2011

Euro Euro

Interest on bank facility 163,132 198,239

14 Financial instruments and risk management

General

In the normal course of its business, the Company holds a portfolio of equities and other securities, and manages investment activities with on-

balance sheet risk. Equities and other securities are valued at fair value. The Company is subject to the risks described below.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, caused by factors that

exclusively apply to the individual instrument or its issuer or by factors that affect all instruments traded in the market. Interest rate risk is the risk

that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in interest rates.

The Company minimises the risks by making a balanced selection of companies with regard to distribution across European countries, sectors

and individual stocks.

Any changes in market conditions will directly affect the profit or loss reported through the Revenue Account. A 25 per cent increase, for

example, in the value of the securities portfolio as at 31 December 2012 would have increased net assets and net profit for the year by

€35.9 million (2011: €30.1 million). A decrease of 25 per cent would have had an equal but opposite effect. The calculations above are based on

investment valuations at the respective balance sheet dates and are not representative of the year as a whole, nor reflective of future market

conditions.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty of a financial instrument will no longer meet its obligations, as a result of which the Company will suffer

a financial loss. To reduce exposure to credit risk relating to financial instruments, the creditworthiness of the counterparties and the transactions’

size and maturity are assessed by service providers to the Company. Wherever it is customary in the market, collateral will be demanded and

obtained. The Company and its service providers monitor and control its risks to exposures frequently and, accordingly, Management believes

that it has in place effective procedures for evaluating and limiting the credit and market risks to which it is subject.

Foreign currency risk management

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in exchange rates. The Company reports its

results and financial position in Euros. The Company’s main activity is to invest in small and medium-sized companies in Continental Europe

whereby a majority of the Company’s investments concern companies with listings and activities in the European Monetary Union. The Company

will have exposure to Continental European currencies other than the Euro (see Note 1). The Company does not employ any derivatives to hedge

its exposure to other currencies.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is not able to obtain the financial means required to meet its obligations. The Company minimises this

risk by mainly investing in equities that are traded on a regular basis. The Company may use borrowings to seek to enhance returns for

shareholders. This may include the use of financial instruments; such financial instruments are valued at fair value. Cash balances may be held

from time to time and these will be held with reputable banks. Liquidity risk of the Company is mitigated by the fact that the Company is a

closed-end investment company.

Insight into actual risks

The Report of the Management Board Director, the overview of the Investment Portfolio, which includes the geographic distribution of the

investments, and the Notes to the Annual Accounts give an insight into the actual risks at the balance sheet date.
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14 Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Risk management

Managing risk is a part of the investment process as a whole and, with the help of systems, the risks outlined above are limited, measured and

monitored on the basis of fixed risk measures.

Policy regarding the use of financial instruments

Investing implies that positions are taken. As it is possible to use various instruments, including derivative instruments, to construct an identical

position, the selection of derivatives is subordinate to the positioning of a portfolio. The Company does not employ any derivatives to take

positions.

The Company presently has banking facilities to gear the portfolio within the 20 per cent of assets level as permitted under the Articles and under

the Company’s tax status as a Fiscal Investment Institution.

15 Turnover ratio

Dutch method

This shows the turnover of the investments against the average net asset value of the Company and is a measure of the incurred transaction

costs resulting from the portfolio policy pursued and the ensuing investment transactions. In the calculation method used, the amount of turnover

is determined by the sum of purchases and sales of investments less the sum of sale and repurchase of own shares. The turnover ratio is

determined by expressing the amount of turnover as a percentage of the average net asset value of the Company. The Dutch method turnover

ratio for 2012 is 43.9 per cent (2011: 56.5 per cent).

UK method

The turnover ratio (UK method) for the year ended 31 December 2012 was 22 per cent (2011: 28 per cent). This is expressed as

((purchases + sales) ÷ 2) as a percentage of the average net asset value of the Company.

16 Ongoing charges

The Ongoing Charges Figure (‘OCF’) which, within the scope of the Dutch Act on Financial Supervision (‘Wft’), should be reported by investment

institutions in order to provide clear and comparable information on the level of costs, amounts to 1.70 per cent for the financial year (2011: 1.64

per cent). In the Nadere regeling gedragstoezicht beleggingsinstellingen Wft (further regulation supervision investment institutions) for the

definition of OCF reference is made to the EU Directive 2009/65/EC. As per the EU Directive 2009/65/EC, the OCF is defined as the ratio of total

ongoing charges, i.e. total ongoing costs, to the average net asset value. Performance related fees, interest on borrowing and transaction costs

are not considered as ongoing charges and should be excluded from the calculation of the OCF. In prior years, the Wft required the disclosure of

a so-called expense ratio, defined as total costs (administrative expenses, investment management fees and tax) expressed as a percentage of

average net asset value during the year. In case of the Company, the calculation of the OCF and the calculation of the ‘expense ratio’ generate

the same ratio both for the year under review as for previous years.

17 Remuneration of the Supervisory and Management Board

The remuneration of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board was paid at the annual rate of €34,535 (2011: €34,535). The other Directors were

paid at the annual rate of €23,909 (2011: €23,909). The remuneration of the Managing Director, FCA Management BV, amounted to €97,400

(2011: €94,775).

The policy on Supervisory Directors’ fees is that remuneration should reflect the experience of the Board as a whole, time committed and

responsibilities of Directors and be fair and consistent with other comparable investment companies. The Company Secretary and Managing

Director provide information on comparative levels of directors’ fees to enable a review to be undertaken. An increase in fee levels requires

approval of shareholders in general meeting.
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18 Outsourcing

In January 2002, DNB published the DNB circular ‘Outsourcing of main duties’, which requires investment funds to provide an overview of

main duties outsourced. The Company has drawn up service level agreements for the outsourced duties with the following external parties,

which, among others, deal with requirements regarding mutual transfer of information, term of notice, compliance with regulation and fees.

Main duty: Outsourced to:

Accounting, Custodian and IT KASBANK NV

Managing Director FCA Management BV

Asset management F&C Investment Business Limited

19 Transactions with related parties

If funds have been placed at, or transactions have been carried out with KASBANK NV, FCA Management BV or F&C Investment Business

Limited, these placements or transactions took place at arm’s length. During the year 2012 there were no fund or investment transactions

between these related parties and the Company.

20 Employees

The Company does not have any employees.

The Management Board Director

FCA Management BV

The Supervisory Board

Sir John Ward CBE, Chairman

Neville Cook

Laurence Jacquot

Professor Robert van der Meer

Duco Sickinghe

Giles Warman

Rotterdam

1 March 2013
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Statutory Income Allocation

According to Article 21 of the Articles of Association the Company’s profit shall be at the disposal of the general meeting of Shareholders.

Distribution of profit can only be made in so far as the net asset value of the Company shall exceed the aggregate of the amounts paid upon the

issued share capital and the reserves of the Company, which are to be maintained by statute. The Management Board may, on a proposal of the

Supervisory Board, decide to grant an interim distribution of profit and/or grant a distribution out of reserves. The proposed income allocation is

set out on the page entitled ‘Revenue Account’.

Major shareholders

Dutch Act on the Disclosure of Major Holdings and Capital Interests in Securities-Issuing Institutions (Wet melding zeggenschap

en kapitaalbelang in effectenuitgevende instellingen (Wmz 2006))

In the register of major holdings maintained by AFM the following major holdings in the Company are disclosed:

European Assets Trust NV: 39.8%*. This concerns shares held by the Company in treasury, which are currently not in circulation and disregarded

both from a financial and a voting right point of view.

F&C Asset Management plc: 8.3%**. This concerns shares held by F&C Asset Management plc only for the benefit of its clients.

* This concerns the percentage registered as at 1 March 2013. At 31 December 2012 the Company held 40.8% of the total number of shares issued, amounting to

24,937,280 (including all shares held in treasury).

** This concerns the percentage of the total number of shares issued, amounting to 24,937,280 (including all shares held in treasury).

Interests of the Supervisory and Management Board Directors

The Supervisory Board Directors and the Management Board Director collectively had no interests in securities held in the Company’s portfolio at

31 December 2012, except for Mr Giles Warman who held 12,200 shares in Glanbia and 15,250 shares in Origin Enterprises and Mr Neville

Cook who held 10,000 shares in EFG International and 200 shares in Forbo.

Professor Robert van der Meer is a Supervisory Board director of KASBANK NV which acts as custodian and provides administrative services for

the Company and has granted a credit facility to the Company. No Supervisory Director of the Company has any material interest in any contract

to which the Company is a party. No Supervisory Director of the Company has a contract of service with the Company.

As at 31 December 2012, Sir John Ward, Mr Neville Cook and Mr Giles Warman, Supervisory Board Directors, held 7,600 shares, 15,000*

shares and 14,500 shares respectively in European Assets Trust NV. The other Supervisory Board Directors and the Management Board Director

did not hold any shares in the Company as at 31 December 2012.

*15,300 shares as at 1 March 2013 following distribution of scrip shares.

Subsequent event

With regard to the Distribution Policy, the Company announced a dividend of €0.1834 per share on 3 January 2013. This dividend was paid from

the Other reserves on 31 January 2013. During the year 2013, the total distributions are expected to be €0.5502 per share, payable in equal

instalments in January, May and August.

Other Information
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Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2012 of European Assets Trust N.V., Rotterdam, which comprise

the balance sheet as at 31 December 2012, the profit and loss account for the year then ended and the notes, comprising

a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements and for the preparation

of the report of the management board director, both in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the

Act on Financial Supervision. Furthermore management is responsible for such internal control as it determines is

necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in

accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. This requires that we comply with ethical

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are

free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by

management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion with respect to the financial statements

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of European Assets Trust N.V. as at

December 31, 2012 and of its result for the year then ended in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code

and the Act on Financial Supervision.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Pursuant to the legal requirement under Section 2:393 sub 5 at e and f of the Dutch Civil Code, we have no deficiencies to

report as a result of our examination whether the report of the management board director, to the extent we can assess,

has been prepared in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of this Code, and whether the information as required under

Section 2:392 sub 1 at b-h has been annexed. Further we report that the report of the management board director, to the

extent we can assess, is consistent with the financial statements as required by Section 2:391 sub 4 of the Dutch Civil

Code.

Amsterdam, 1 March 2013

Ernst & Young Accountants LLP

Signed by

J.C.J. Preijde

Independent Auditor’s Report
To: the shareholders of European Assets Trust N.V.
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UK corporate governance

Arrangements in respect of corporate governance have been made by the Supervisory Board, which follow the general

principles set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code (‘UK Code’), as a matter of good practice. Included in the

information below are the significant ways in which the Company’s actual corporate governance practices differ from

those set out in the UK Code.

All Supervisory Directors are considered by the Board to be independent of the Company’s Investment Managers.

Sir John Ward, Mr Neville Cook and Mr Giles Warman have all served on the Board for longer than 9 years and will seek

re-election from shareholders annually. The Supervisory Board does not consider that a Director’s tenure necessarily

reduces his ability to act independently and, following performance evaluations, believes that each Director is independent

in character and judgement and that continuity and experience add to the strength of the Board.

Under the requirements of the Articles of Association, Directors retire by rotation at Shareholder meetings and Directors are

appointed for a specified term of no more than 4 years, subject to reappointment by shareholders. The Board has agreed,

however, that Directors will seek re-election at the completion of each three years’ service and annually after serving on the

Board for more than nine years. Full details of the duties of Directors are provided at the time of appointment.

The Supervisory Board has no executive Directors and the Company has no employees. A management contract between

the Company and its Investment Managers, F&C Investment Business Limited, sets out the matters over which the Investment

Managers have authority and the limits above which Board approval must be sought. All other matters, including strategy,

investment and dividend policies, gearing, and corporate governance procedures, are reserved for the approval of the

Management and Supervisory Board of Directors. The Board currently meets at least four times a year and receives full

information on the Company’s investment performance, assets, liabilities and other relevant information in advance of Board

meetings. The Investment Managers, in the absence of explicit instructions from the Board, are empowered to exercise

discretion in the use of the Company’s voting rights.

Given the size and structure of the Company, the limited number of Supervisory Board Directors and taking account of

Dutch corporate governance principles, the Board performs the functions of Audit, Management Engagement and

Nomination Committees. The Board performs the duties of an Audit Committee including reviewing the Annual and Interim

Accounts, the system of internal controls, the terms of appointment of the auditors together with their remuneration, and

ensuring that auditor objectivity and independence is safeguarded in the provision of non-audit services by the auditors.

The Board, chaired by Sir John Ward, meets twice a year specifically to consider audit matters and this provides a forum

through which the auditors may report to the Board of Directors. In future Professor Robert van der Meer, rather than Sir

John Ward, will chair the part of the meeting of Directors that considers audit matters. The Board reviews the terms of the

Investment Manager’s appointment at least on an annual basis. In considering the appointment of additional Supervisory

Directors, the Board takes into account the ongoing requirements of the Company and the need to have a balance of

skills and experience within the Board.

During the year the performance of the Board was evaluated through an assessment process, led by the Chairman. The

performance of the Chairman was evaluated by the other Directors.

Corporate Governance (detail)
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The following table sets out the number of Supervisory Board and Shareholder meetings held during the year ended 31

December 2012 and the number of meetings attended by each Director.

Shareholder meetings in

The Netherlands (formal)

Board meetings of Directors and UK (informal)

Held Attended Held Attended

Sir John Ward CBE 6 6 2 2

Neville Cook 6 6 2 2

Laurence Jacquot 6 6 2 2

Professor Robert van der Meer 6 5 2 1

Duco Sickinghe 6 4 2 1

Giles Warman 6 6 2 2

Supervisory Directors do not have service contracts but new Directors are provided with a letter of appointment. The

terms of Directors’ appointment provide that Directors are subject to periodic retiral and re-election by shareholders.

Individual Directors may, at the expense of the Company, seek independent professional advice on any matter that

concerns them in the furtherance of their duties. The Company maintains appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ liability

insurance.

After making enquiries, and bearing in mind the nature of the Company’s business and assets, the Directors consider that

the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they

continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Procedures are in place to address the Company’s system of internal control. These procedures are designed to manage,

rather than eliminate risk and, by their nature, these procedures can provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance

against material misstatement or loss. The Board monitors the investment performance of the Company in comparison to

its objective at each Board meeting and the Board also reviews the Company’s activities since the last Board meeting. The

Board has reviewed the need for an internal audit function. The Board has decided that the systems and procedures

employed by the Investment Managers, including an internal audit function, and work carried out by the Management

Board Director, Administrators and Custodian and the Company’s External Auditors mean that an internal audit function for

the Company is unnecessary.

The Company welcomes the views of shareholders and places importance on communication with its shareholders. The

Investment Managers hold meetings with the Company’s largest shareholders and report back to the Board on these

meetings. Each year, the Company holds a General Meeting of shareholders in Amsterdam and a Shareholders’ and

Investors’ Briefing in London, which provide a forum, both formal and informal, for shareholders to meet and discuss

issues with the Directors and Investment Managers of the Company.

Dutch corporate governance

Corporate Governance policy and framework of European Assets Trust

European Assets Trust is a financial product organised in the form of a listed Dutch law public limited company/

investment company with variable capital/investment institution governed by the provisions of the Wft, the Dutch Act on

Financial Supervision. The shares in European Assets Trust are listed in Amsterdam (NYSE Euronext) and London

(LSE). European Assets Trust is licensed by Autoriteit Financiële Markten under the Wft.
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European Assets Trust does not have its own business organisation.

European Assets Trust subscribes to the advisability of transparency in management and supervision and Directors’

accountability for this to investors. Therefore and in addition to the principles of the UK Code, the Company has adopted

the principles and best practices of good corporate governance in line with those of the Tabaksblat Code on 9 December

2003 (the ‘Code’) as part of its guideline, insofar as this is advisable, appropriate and possible in its opinion. The Company

believes there are no differences of principle or inconsistencies between the UK Code and the Code. On 10 December

2008, the Code was updated by the Corporate Governance Code Monitoring Committee to take effect as of the financial

year 2009.

As the Company is an externally managed investment institution without its own organisation, it is not possible to apply

the Code in full, as the preamble to the Code also acknowledges explicitly. For instance, many of the provisions of the

Code deal with management and remuneration by and of individuals. These cannot be applied in full in the case of

European Assets Trust, because its statutory management and investment management have been outsourced to FCA

Management B.V. (‘FCA Management’) and F&C Investment Business Limited, respectively. In addition, the Company’s

Articles of Association provide indemnification for the Directors by the Company. The provisions of the Code that relate to

the appointment and remuneration of management are therefore not fully complied with. The remuneration for these

functions is governed by contractual arrangements as described in the Management Board report. For example, such

contracts have been entered into for a period in deviation of the maximum of 4 years according to the Code. However, the

contract with the Managing Director can be terminated with a notice period of 3 months and can be terminated per the

end of a calendar year, whereas the contract with the Investment Manager can be terminated at 6 months’ notice.

Moreover, the contracts do not provide for a severance payment for individual Directors or managers.

European Assets Trust, like all Dutch regulated and licensed investment institutions, is subject to detailed and clearly

described conditions and an associated unambiguous remuneration structure and corporate governance structure. It is

covered by the regime of Wft and subject to the supervision of Autoriteit Financiële Markten. The conditions that apply to

European Assets Trust offer investors clarity in advance about what they are entitled to expect from an investment in

European Assets Trust and place specific demands on management, reporting and information supply, as well as the

accountability of the managers of investment institutions to investors. No amendments to the conditions can and may be

made without the approval of the Supervisory Board and due observance of the restrictions of the Wft.

Responsibility of Institutional Investors under the Code

The principles and provisions of the Code with regard to the responsibility of institutional investors as laid down in the

Code do apply to all institutional investors including European Assets Trust. The Investment Manager, in the absence of

explicit instructions from the Supervisory Board in a specific case, is empowered to exercise discretion in the use of the

Company’s voting rights. Only when there are matters of particular concern will the Investment Manager contact the

Management Board to explore issues. The policy of the Investment Manager is to seek to maximize shareholder value by

constructive use of votes at company meetings and by endeavouring to use its influence as an investor with a principled

approach to corporate governance. The Company seeks to conduct its affairs responsibly and environmental factors are,

where appropriate, taken into consideration with regard to investment decisions taken by the Investment Manager on

behalf of the Company. The Company’s Investment Manager considers socially responsible investment and actively

engages with portfolio companies.
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Annual discussion with shareholders about corporate governance framework during shareholders’ meeting

The topic of corporate governance has been part of the agenda for each general meeting of shareholders since 2004.

The corporate governance policy, including the remuneration policy, and the corporate governance framework of

European Assets Trust as described in this section have been approved by the shareholders in that year for the first time.

In the General Meeting of shareholders held in May 2012, the shareholders have once again approved the current

corporate governance framework and, in line with the Company’s intention to do so annually, the subject has again been

scheduled for discussion at the upcoming General Meeting of shareholders on 25 April 2013.

The Management and Supervisory Board will continue to give the required attention to the subject during the current year.

If preferable or required, the prevailing framework and policies and practice will be adjusted and improved. In doing this,

the legal requirements which, as of 1 January 2007, have been included to a considerable extent in the Dutch Act on

Financial Supervision, as well as the principles and ‘best practices’ of the Code, in addition to the UK Code, as far as

appropriate, will be taken into account.

Statement referred to in Section 3 of the Decree of 23 December 2004, Stb 747, determining the further

requirements concerning the contents of annual reports

Based on Section 391 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code (Act of 9 July 2004, Stb 370, to amend Book 2, CC) and the

Royal Decree of 23 December 2004, limited liability companies, whose shares – to put it briefly – are listed on a stock

exchange, must include a statement in their annual reports about their compliance with the principles and best practices

of the Code. European Assets Trust assumes that, with the introduction of the Dutch Act on Financial Supervision on

1 January 2007, the Code does not apply to externally managed investment institutions such as European Assets Trust.

Nevertheless, European Assets Trust makes the following statement:

In the year under review, European Assets Trust did not comply fully with the provisions of the Code, nor does it intend to

comply with these during the current financial year or the next financial year. Its grounds for doing so are explained in the

corporate governance policy of European Assets Trust described above.
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How to Invest

One of the most convenient ways to invest in European Assets Trust NV is through one of the savings plans run

by F&C Management Limited (‘F&C’). 

F&C Private Investor Plan (PIP)

A flexible way to invest with a lump sum from

£500 or regular savings from £50 a month.

You can also make additional lump sum

top-ups at any time from £250.

F&C Child Trust Fund (CTF)

CTFs are closed to new investors; however,

if your child has a CTF with another provider,

it is easy to transfer it to F&C. Additional

contributions can be made from as little as

£25 per month or £100 lump sum – up to a

maximum of £3,600 for the 2012/13 tax year

(£3,720 for 2013/14).

F&C Children’s lnvestment Plan (CIP)

A flexible way to save for a child. With no

maximum contributions, the plan can easily be

written under trust to help reduce inheritance

tax liability or kept in your name if you may

need access to the funds before the child is

18. Investments can be made from a £250

lump sum or £25 a month. You can also make

additional lump sum top-ups at any time

from £100.

Potential investors are reminded that the value of investments and the

income from them may go down as well as up and you may not receive

back the full amount originally invested. Tax rates and reliefs depend on the

circumstances of the individual. The CTF and JISA accounts are opened in

the child’s name. Money cannot be withdrawn until the child turns 18.

Annual management charges and certain transaction costs apply

according to the type of plan.

Annual account charge

ISA: £60+VAT

JISA: £25+VAT

PIP: £40+VAT (from 6 April 2013)

CIP/CTF: £25+VAT (from 6 April 2013)

You can pay the annual charge from your account, or by direct debit

(in addition to any annual subscription limits).

Dealing charge

ISA: 0.2%

PIP/CIP: 0.2% (to 5 April 2013)

Fixed rate of £12 per trust which is reduced to £8 per trust for instructions

placed online (from 6 April 2013)

JISA: Fixed rate of £12 which is reduced to £8 for instructions placed online.

The dealing charge applies when shares are bought or sold but the fixed rate

charge does not apply to the reinvestment of dividends or the investment of

regular monthly savings.

There is no dealing charge on a CTF but a switching charge of £25 applies if

more than 2 switches are carried out in one year.

Government stamp duty of 0.5% also applies on purchases (where

applicable).

There may be additional charges made if you transfer a plan to another

provider or transfer the shares from your plan. For full details of charges,

please read the Key Features and Terms and Conditions of the plan before

investing.

How to Invest

You can invest in all our savings plans online.

New Customers

Contact our Investor Services Team

Call: 0800 136 420 (8:30am – 5:30pm, weekdays, calls may be recorded)

Email: info@fandc.com

Investing online: www.fandc.com

Existing Plan Holders

Contact our Investor Services Team

Call:                     0845 600 3030 (*9:00am – 5:00pm, weekdays, calls may be recorded)

Email:                  investor.enquiries@fandc.com

By post:              F&C Plan Administration Centre

                           PO Box 11114 

                           Chelmsford

                           CM99 2DG 

If you have trouble reading small print, please let us know. We can provide literature in alternative formats,

for example large print or on audiotape. Please call 0845 600 3030*.
The above has been approved by F&C Management Limited which is a member of the F&C Asset Management Group and is authorised and regulated in the UK by the

Financial Services Authority.

F&C Junior ISA (JISA)

This is a tax-efficient savings plan for children

who did not qualify for a CTF. It allows you to

invest up to £3,600 for the 2012/13 tax year

(£3,720 for 2013/14) with all the tax benefits

of the CTF. You can invest from £30 a month,

or £500 lump sum, or a combination of both.

F&C lnvestment Trust ISA

Use your ISA allowance to make an annual

tax-efficient investment of up to £11,280 for

the 2012/13 tax year (£11,520 for 2013/14)

with a lump sum from £500 or regular savings

from £50 a month. You can also make

additional lump sum top-ups at any time from

£250 and transfer any existing ISAs to us

whilst maintaining all the tax benefits.



Private Client Brokers/Individuals 36% (35%)

F&C Asset Management Retail Products 40% (39%)

Bearer Shares 1% (1%)

Institutions 23% (25%)

Introduction and Recent History

The Company is an investment company with variable capital. The Company’s shares are traded on the London Stock

Exchange and Euronext Amsterdam Stock Market and shareholders can buy or sell shares through these exchanges.

Shareholders are not, at their request, able to buy shares directly from or sell shares to the Company. The Company is

incorporated with limited liability in the Netherlands having its registered office at Weena 210-212, PO Box 1370,

3000 BJ Rotterdam, the Netherlands. It was originally founded on 20 February 1931 as a Dutch investment company

under the name ‘Mijbeb’. It has been quoted on the Euronext Amsterdam Stock Market since 3 August 1959. The basis

of the present business of the Company was established following the acquisition in 1972 of over 90 per cent of its

issued share capital by a consortium of United Kingdom institutional investors and the appointment of F&C Asset

Management as investment managers to the Company. The investment policy adopted at that time placed an emphasis

on the European Community. Subsequently, the geographical spread of the portfolio has been expanded to include

companies throughout Europe, other than the United Kingdom. From 1973 to 1978, investments were also held in

companies in the United States.

Between 1972 and 1980, the Company developed a broadly based portfolio seeking a balance between capital growth

and a reasonable level of income. Following a change of investment policy in 1980 the Company began concentrating on

investment in companies which it considered had potential for higher than average capital growth. In 1983 the shares of

the Company were listed on the London Stock Exchange. The high distribution policy was adopted by the Company from

2001.

In 2012 the Company repurchased 140,000 (2011: 50,000) of its own shares to be held in treasury and issued 19,506

(2011: 18,716) via its scrip dividend option. As at 31 December 2012 there were 14,760,874 shares in circulation (2011:

14,881,368) and 10,176,406 (2011: 10,055,912) shares held in treasury.

Shareholder Information
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Percentage of Ordinary Shares held at 31 December 2012 (figures in brackets relate to 2011)

Total Number of Shareholders

(figures include F&C Asset Management Retail Products) 2012 2011

Ordinary Shares 13,551 13,753

(excluding bearer shares)



Company Structure

Under the Act on the Supervision of Investment Institutions in the Netherlands the Company was granted a licence to act
as an investment institution on 19 December 1991. The Company was granted a renewal licence by the Authority for
Financial Markets on 30 June 2006.

The Company has fiscal investment institution status in the Netherlands (‘fiscale beleggingsinstelling’) and is subject to tax
on both income and capital gains at a zero rate.

Any request to the supervisory authority in the Netherlands pursuant to section 1:104 paragraph 1 sub a of the Act on
Financial Supervision to revoke the authorisation must be announced through an advertisement in a national newspaper in
the Netherlands and by communication addressed to registered Shareholders.

Any change to the Articles of Association of the Company which causes a reduction in Shareholders’ rights or security or
imposes costs upon Shareholders will not become effective until three months after approval of the change by the Dutch
Authority for Financial Markets. As is normal for public limited companies incorporated in the Netherlands, the Company
has a two-tier structure comprising the Supervisory Board and Management Board. The Supervisory Board Directors are
shown on the page entitled ‘Supervisory Board’. FCA Management BV is Management Board Director and provides
management and legal compliance services to the Company.

Current Investment Policy and Recent Performance

The investment policy adopted in 1980 has been refined by seeking investments in small and medium-sized companies in
Continental Europe, defined as those with a market capitalisation below that of the largest company in the HSBC Smaller
Europe (ex UK) Index or to a monetary value of €2.5 billion, whichever is the greater. The Company will not invest more
than 20 per cent of its total assets in any one company and does not take legal or management control of any company in
which it invests.

It is the Company’s objective to identify companies which possess particular knowledge in specialist markets providing
them with opportunities in the long term to achieve above average growth. The Company does not restrict its investments
to any specific industrial sectors and a diversified geographical spread has been maintained.

The Company does not seek to create a portfolio to take advantage of anticipated currency fluctuations.

The Company has the ability to undertake stock lending activities but would need to enter into a new agreement before
commencing.

The Company has the powers under its Articles to borrow an amount up to 20 per cent of its securities portfolio.

The performance of the Company since 2001 is shown in the table below.

Euro Sterling

% Annual % Annual

Dividends/ total return total return

Net asset value Net asset value distributions net asset % Annual net asset % Annual

per share per share per share value per total return value per total return

31 December Pence Euro Euro share benchmark share benchmark

2001* 569.12 9.35 1.56 (23.2) (17.3) (25.1) (19.5)

2002 392.13 6.03 0.90 (27.5) (22.1) (22.5) (17.0)

2003 548.19 7.78 0.37 37.1 40.0 48.5 51.2

2004 619.58 8.75 0.465 19.3 25.0 19.9 25.6

2005 782.52 11.39 0.555 37.7 39.6 33.7 35.5

2006 1,000.61 14.85 0.7325 38.2 33.8 35.9 31.2

2007 978.02 13.32 0.912 (4.8) (3.0) 3.7 5.8

2008 519.97 5.38 0.8535 (56.4) (49.5) (42.1) (33.4)

2009 642.10 7.23 0.3551 42.5 55.2 31.0 42.5

2010 727.44 8.49 0.4613 25.2 21.7 20.8 17.4

2011 614.78 7.36 0.5337 (7.6) (21.8) (9.9) (23.8)

2012 743.39 9.17 0.4698 32.0 20.4 28.2 17.0

*High distribution policy adopted from 2001.

The Company’s cumulative net asset value per share total return from 31 December 2000 to 31 December 2012 was 56.8 per

cent in Euros (Sterling 103.6 per cent), from 31 December 2009 to 31 December 2012 was 52.8 per cent in Euros (Sterling

39.5 per cent) and from 31 December 2007 to 31 December 2012 was -5.0 per cent in Euros (Sterling 4.9 per cent).
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For the purpose of the table, the Net Asset Value of the Company at the relevant date is based on the balance sheet as at

31 December of each year. Rates in the London spot market on the relevant dates have been applied to convert the euro

figures into sterling.

The share price of European Assets Trust is published daily in Het Financieele Dagblad and in the Financial Times and

other newspapers.

Dividends are declared in euros and paid in euros (bearer shares) or in sterling (registered shares). Those registered

shareholders who wish to receive their dividends in euros should contact the Company’s UK Registrars, Computershare

Investor Services PLC, The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS99 6ZZ.

Shares and Distribution Policy

The shares of the Company, which form one class and rank pari passu in all respects as regards dividend and capital,

may be held in either registered or bearer form. They are listed on the London Stock Exchange and Euronext Amsterdam

Stock Market. Holders of bearer shares may request the Company to convert their shares into registered shares and

holders of registered shares may convert such shares into bearer shares. The share certificates are signed by the

Management Board Director.

The Company also has a facility to allow CREST participating shareholders to hold and transfer interests in the shares of

the Company within the CREST UK electronic settlement system. The facility is in the form of Depository Interests which is

operated by Computershare Investor Services PLC pursuant to a Deed Poll executed under English law. Shareholders

that wish to continue to hold their shares in the Company in certificated form on the UK register can continue to do so

and their rights are unaffected by the issue of the Depository Interests.

The Board intends, barring unforeseen circumstances, setting an annual dividend yield level of 6 per cent on the net asset

value per share at the end of the preceding year. A scrip alternative is available.

Distributions on bearer shares are announced in the Official Price List of Euronext Amsterdam NV. The holders of

registered shares receive their payment from the Company’s Registrars.

Scrip Dividend

Shareholders may elect to receive dividends by way of further shares in the Company. Where shareholders elect for scrip

dividends, they will receive shares at net asset value either from the Company’s holding of shares in treasury or through an

issue of new shares; the net asset value for this purpose will be that announced for the end of the month immediately

preceding the record date for the relevant dividend. Roundings will be retained by the Company. Application will be made

for any new shares issued to be listed on the London Stock Exchange and Euronext Amsterdam Stock Market.

Computershare Investor Services PLC acts as administrator for the purposes of the Company’s scrip dividend payments

for holders of registered shares. The Administrator’s address for correspondence is Computershare Investor Services

PLC, The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS99 6ZZ.

Elections for scrip dividends may be made by registered shareholders by notice to the Administrator (using the form

available from the Administrator on request). Such elections for scrip dividends must be received by the record date for a

particular dividend in order to apply to the payment in respect of that month. Elections for scrip dividends apply to all

future dividends until revoked. Unless otherwise agreed by the Administrator, instructions by registered shareholders to

revoke an election to receive scrip dividends must be received by the record date for a particular dividend in order for that

month’s dividend to be paid in cash. If a registered shareholder who has elected for scrip dividends sells part of their

holding, their election will remain valid in respect of the reduced holding.

Holders of bearer shares can elect for scrip dividends in the manner customary in the Dutch market through the bank at

which those shareholders have their securities account.
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Costs of the Investment Fund

The Company incurs the following costs on an annual basis: advertising fees, audit and accounting fees, bank charges,

broker and distribution fees, custody fees, D&O insurance, fund administration fees, investment management fees, legal

fees, marketing and retail plan administration fees, printing costs, registration fees, UK and Dutch regulatory fees, tax

advice and travel expenses as well as remuneration of the Managing Board Director and Supervisory Directors.

Company Taxation

The Company qualifies as a tax exempt fiscal investment institution (‘fiscale beleggingsinstelling’).

Companies with tax exempt investment institution status in the Netherlands are subject to tax on both income and capital

gains in the Netherlands at a zero rate. The conditions which have to be satisfied in order for a company to have

investment institution status under Dutch tax law are summarised below:

(a) The company must be exclusively or almost exclusively engaged in investment in securities or in real estate or in loans

secured by mortgage on real estate.

(b) Investment may be funded by borrowing only as follows:

(i) loans of up to 20 per cent of the book value of the securities portfolio of the company and its subsidiaries; and

(ii) loans of up to 60 per cent of the book value of the real property of the company and its subsidiaries, where the

moneys borrowed are secured by mortgage on that property.

For purposes of this test, real property is not limited to immovable property, but includes also real estate companies

(i.e. companies whose assets, on a consolidated basis, consist for at least 90% of immovable property).

(c) Distributable profit must be distributed within the eight months following the end of the related financial year.

Distributable profit includes all fiscal profits but does not include:

(i) net realised or unrealised capital gains provided that these are added to a reinvestment reserve; and

(ii) amounts set aside to an accumulation reserve which amounts may be set aside at the Company’s option, subject

to the reserve not exceeding a balance equal to 1 per cent of the Company’s paid in capital (the aggregate of the

share capital and the share premium account).

(d) An individual or legal entity not resident in the Netherlands may not own an interest of 25 per cent or more in the share

capital of the Company.

(e) An individual or legal entity resident in the Netherlands may not own an indirect interest of 25 per cent or more in the

Company by means of holdings in the shares of non-resident companies.

Professional advice should be sought in respect of any question relating to taxation.

A summary of taxation is set out below. It represents a general description only and should not be construed or read as

advice on shareholders’ own tax positions, as individual circumstances may affect the general tax consequences as

described in the summary. Shareholders should consult their own tax advisers with regard to their individual tax position.

Withholding Tax

The Dutch dividend withholding tax is 15 per cent. Therefore, where withholding tax is applicable to dividends paid by the

Company, these dividends are subject to a Dutch dividend withholding tax rate of 15 per cent. The Dutch dividend

withholding tax rate can be reduced under a tax treaty.

The double taxation agreement between the Netherlands and the United Kingdom currently allows a general dividend

withholding tax of 15 per cent. This withholding tax is available as a credit against any United Kingdom tax payable by a

United Kingdom resident shareholder in respect of dividends. The withholding tax is also available as a credit against

Dutch income or corporate income tax payable by a Dutch resident shareholder or will be refunded if there is no tax due,

as in the case of a Dutch resident tax exempt entity. Subject to certain ordering rules, which deem income to be

distributed first, a distribution from the reinvestment reserve with effect from 1 January 2001 is exempt from

withholding tax.
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Dividend Taxation

Netherlands Taxation

The information below, is of a general nature only and relates to Dutch law. If you are in any doubt as to your tax position

you should contact your own professional adviser.

Dividend withholding tax

The existing fiscal reinvestment reserve (roughly equalling the balance of realised and unrealised capital gains) is treated as

paid in capital for dividend withholding tax purposes. This also applies to additions to this reserve in later years.

Distributions which are made out of paid in capital in principle can be made free of withholding tax. In determining whether

these payments can be made free of withholding tax out of paid in capital, certain mandatory ordering rules apply. In

general these ordering rules deem a dividend to come out of earnings (income on an accruals basis) before coming out of

paid in capital. For payments coming out, or deemed to come out, of earnings withholding tax at a rate of 15 per cent is

due. This withholding tax is available as a credit against any United Kingdom tax payable by a United Kingdom resident

shareholder in respect of dividends.

Of the dividends paid in 2012, an amount of EUR 2,766,610 has been paid in order to meet the distribution obligations

under Dutch tax law in respect of 2011, subject to dividend withholding tax. The remainder of EUR 4,025,298 is charged

against the fiscal reinvestment reserve (as a result of which no dividend withholding tax has been withheld on that portion).

Scrip dividends that are booked against paid in capital for dividend withholding tax purposes are not subject to dividend

withholding tax.

Dutch resident shareholders who are taxed in the Netherlands on their worldwide income generally are able to credit the

withholding tax against their overall Dutch income tax liability.

Tax on income and capital gains

A shareholder who is considered a UK resident under the terms of the Netherlands/UK double taxation treaty, will not be

subject to any Dutch taxes on income or capital gains in respect of dividends distributed by the Company or in respect of

capital gains realised on the disposition of shares in the Company (other than the dividend withholding tax described

above), provided that:

l such UK resident shareholder is not an individual who has been resident or is deemed to have been resident in the

Netherlands during a period of five years preceding an alienation of the shares in the Company;

l such UK resident shareholder does not have a business or an interest in a business that is, in whole or in part, carried

on through a permanent establishment or a permanent representative in the Netherlands and to which business or

part of a business, as the case may be, the shares in the Company are attributable; and

l the shares in the Company owned by such UK resident shareholder, whom is an individual, do not form part of a

substantial interest or a deemed substantial interest, as defined, in the share capital of the Company.

l the shares in the Company owned by such UK resident shareholder, whom is a legal entity do not form part of a

substantial interest or deemed substantial interest, as defined, in the share capital of the Company or if such shares do

form part of such a substantial interest, the shares are not held with the main or one of the main purposes to avoid

income tax or dividend withholding tax to be borne by someone else and additionally the shares cannot be attributed

to the assets of an enterprise.

A shareholder who is resident in the Netherlands for tax purposes and whose shares do not:

l form part of a substantial interest or a deemed substantial interest, as defined, in the share capital of the Company;

or

l form part of a business, or deemed to be income from labour,

will be taxed at a 30 per cent tax rate on a notional return of 4 per cent on the average value of the shares, regardless of

the actual income or gains on the shares.

Annual Report and Accounts 2012 41



A shareholder who is not a resident of the Netherlands and who is not considered a resident of the UK under the

terms of the Netherlands/UK double taxation treaty, will not be subject to any Dutch taxes on income or capital gains

in respect of distributions made by the Company or in respect of capital gains realised on the disposition of shares in

the Company (other than the dividend withholding tax described above), provided that:

l such shareholder does not have a business or an interest in a business that is, in whole or in part, carried on through a

permanent establishment or a permanent representative in the Netherlands and to which business or part of a business,

as the case may be, the shares in the Company are attributable; and

l the shares in the Company owned by such UK resident shareholder, whom is a legal entity do not form part of a

substantial interest or deemed substantial interest, as defined, in the share capital of the Company or if such shares do

form part of such a substantial interest, the shares are not held with the main or one of the main purposes to avoid

income tax or dividend withholding tax to be borne by someone else and additionally the shares cannot be attributed to

the assets of an enterprise.

Generally, a shareholder will not have a substantial interest in the Company if he, his spouse, certain other relatives

(including foster children) or certain persons sharing his household, do not hold, alone or together, whether directly or

indirectly, the ownership of, or certain other rights over, shares representing 5 per cent or more of the total issued and

outstanding capital (or the issued and outstanding capital of any class of shares) of the Company, or rights to acquire

shares, whether or not already issued, that represent at any time (and from time to time) 5 per cent or more of the total

issued and outstanding capital (or the issued and outstanding capital of any class of shares) of the Company or the

ownership of certain profit participating certificates that relate to 5 per cent or more of the annual profit of the

Company and/or to 5 per cent or more of the liquidation proceeds of the Company. A deemed substantial interest generally

exists if (part of) a substantial interest has been disposed of or is deemed to have been disposed of without recognition of

gain.

UK Resident Shareholders

The information below, which is of a general nature only and does not constitute tax advice, and which relates only to

Netherlands and UK taxation, is applicable to persons who are resident or ordinarily resident in the UK and who hold

Ordinary shares as an investment. The provisions set out below may not apply to certain classes of shareholders, such as

dealers in securities, or to shareholders who are not absolute beneficial owners of their shares. Any shareholder or

prospective investor in shares who is in any doubt as to their tax position, or who is subject to tax in a jurisdiction

other than the UK is strongly recommended to consult their professional adviser as soon as possible. Special

provisions apply to certain kinds of shareholder who are also strongly recommended to seek their own professional advice.

If you are in any doubt as to your tax position you should consult your own professional adviser.

Individual Shareholders

UK resident individual shareholders will be liable to UK income tax on dividends received from the Company. An individual

shareholder, resident in the UK for tax purposes, holding less than 10 per cent of the Company’s share capital will generally

be entitled to a notional tax credit in respect of any dividend received equal to one-ninth of the amount of the dividend. The

notional tax credit therefore equals 10 per cent of the aggregate of the dividend and the tax credit. UK resident individual

shareholders, (including those who hold their shares through an ISA), who are not liable to income tax in respect of their

dividends, will not generally be entitled to reclaim any part of the notional tax credit. The income tax charge in respect of

dividends for basic rate tax payers will be at the rate of 10 per cent and, after offsetting the 10 per cent notional tax credit,

such shareholders will have no further liability to UK tax on their dividends.

A higher rate taxpayer will be liable to UK income tax on dividends received from the Company (to the extent that,

taking the dividend as the top slice of his income, it falls above the threshold for the higher rate of income tax) at the rate of

32.5 per cent of the gross dividend including any Netherlands dividend withholding tax and any notional tax

credit which, after offsetting the 10 per cent notional tax credit, equates to a rate of tax of 22.5 per cent of the gross

dividend, or an effective rate of 25 per cent of the dividend paid. Netherlands dividend withholding tax may also be set

against the UK income tax liability arising on dividends received from the Company. The relevant dividend voucher will show

whether Netherlands dividend withholding tax has been applied or not.
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With effect from 6 April 2010 an additional rate taxpayer is liable to UK income tax on dividends received from the

Company (to the extent that, taking the dividend as the top slice of his income, it falls above the threshold for the

additional rate of income tax (£150,000) at the rate of 42.5 per cent of the gross dividend including any Netherlands

dividends withholding tax and any notional tax credit which, after offsetting the 10 per cent notional tax credit, equates to a

rate of tax of 32.5 per cent of the gross dividend, or an effective rate of 36.11 per cent of the dividend paid.

With effect from 6 April 2013 an additional rate taxpayer is liable to UK income tax on dividends received from the

Company (to the extent that, taking the dividend as the top slice of his income, it falls above the threshold for the

additional rate of income tax of £150,000) at the rate of 37.5 per cent of the gross dividend including any Netherlands

dividends withholding tax and any notional tax credit which, after offsetting the 10 per cent notional tax credit, equates to a

tax rate of 27.5 per cent of the gross dividend, or an effective rate of 30.56 per cent of the dividend paid.

UK resident shareholders who are not liable to UK income tax on their income and those who hold their Ordinary shares

through an ISA will not be subject to UK tax on dividends.

UK resident individual shareholders who receive a scrip dividend will not, to the extent that it is paid up out of the tax -

exempt share premium reserve, be liable to UK income tax on such a dividend. Instead, for the purposes of UK capital

gains tax, such a scrip dividend will be treated as a bonus issue of shares derived from the shareholders’ existing

shareholding.

Corporate Shareholders

With effect from 1 July 2009 UK companies will generally be exempt from corporation tax on dividends received from the

Company.

Taxation of Share Buy-backs and Resale of Shares Held in Treasury

UK taxation

The information below is of a general nature only, does not constitute tax advice and shareholders should consult their

professional advisers with regard to their individual tax position.

Capital gains tax

Shareholders who are resident or ordinarily resident in the UK for taxation purposes who sell their shares through the

market (other than shares held through an ISA) may, depending upon their own personal circumstances be subject to

capital gains tax (or, in the case of a UK resident corporate shareholder, corporation tax on capital gains) in respect of any

gain arising on such sale unless the shareholder is taxed as a dealer in securities, in which case any gain will be treated as

income and taxed as such.

Shareholders who are individuals will, to the extent that a gain on a disposal of shares, together with other gains less

allowable losses in a fiscal year, exceeds the annual exempt amount which, for the fiscal year 2012/13 is £10,600, be

liable to capital gains tax. Disposals by higher rate taxpayers will be liable to capital gains tax at the rate of 28 per cent.

Basic rate taxpayers will be taxed at the rate of 18 per cent.

Shareholders within the charge to UK corporation tax may benefit from indexation allowance in respect of their period of

ownership, which in general terms, increases the tax base cost of an asset in accordance with changes in the Retail Prices

Index.

Stamp taxes

l Buy back

Where the shares are bought back into treasury a charge to stamp duty will arise if the document of transfer is

executed in the UK or there is a matter to be done in the UK, which will include an update to the UK share register.

Stamp duty will be chargeable at 0.5 per cent of the consideration given (and will be rounded up to the nearest £5).

This will normally be paid by the purchaser, in this case the Company.

l Resale of shares held in treasury

A resale of the shares held in treasury will only be within the charge to stamp duty if the document of transfer is

executed in the UK or there is a matter to be done in the UK, which will include an update or change to the

UK share register where the shares are resold to a UK resident. This transfer would be stampable with £5 fixed duty

which is normally payable by the purchaser. No charge to Stamp Duty Reserve Tax (SDRT) should arise.
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Netherlands taxation

Netherlands withholding tax

The information below, which is of a general nature only and which relates to certain Dutch dividend withholding tax

consequences of the repurchase of shares of the Company, does not represent a comprehensive description of all Dutch

tax considerations that may be relevant to holding or disposition of the shares.

This summary is based on the present tax laws of the Netherlands, as well as present regulations, rulings and decisions of

the Netherlands tax and other authorities available and now in effect. All of the foregoing is subject to change, which

change could apply retroactively and could affect the continued validity of this summary.

A buy back of shares will not be subject to Dutch withholding tax as long as the price at which the shares are repurchased

does not exceed the average paid in capital on those shares. For this purpose, paid in capital comprises for Dutch tax

purposes recognised paid in capital and share premium, as well as the re-investment reserve (as defined under Dutch law).

To the extent the repurchase price exceeds the average paid in capital made on those shares, Dutch withholding tax at a

15 per cent rate applies. Where applicable, a tax treaty may provide for a lower rate.

Notwithstanding the above, no withholding tax applies if the repurchase can be regarded as a temporary investment.

Under a special deeming provision applicable to Dutch investment companies such as the Company, a repurchase of

shares is considered a temporary investment by operation of law, unless the company elects otherwise.

If by the end of the year a company repurchased more shares as temporary investment than it issued to the market in the

same year, the difference is deemed to be a repurchase of shares subject to withholding tax to the extent that the average

fair market value of all shares repurchased during the year exceeds the average paid in capital. An exemption from

withholding tax may nevertheless apply if and to the extent this excess is debited from the share premium reserve or the

reinvestment reserve (as defined under Dutch law).

Articles of Association

This is a summary of the Articles of Association of the Company and provides additional information on issues dealt with in

the Articles of Association. The numbers of the articles below do not concur with the numbers of the actual Articles of

Association. Copies of the articles are available at the office of the Company.

1. Shares and distributions

(a) The authorised capital amounts to thirteen million eight hundred thousand euros (€13,800,000), and is divided into

thirty million (30,000,000) shares, to the amount of €0.46 each.

(b) The shares of the Company may be in bearer or registered form.

(c) Transfer of registered shares is effected by a duly stamped instrument of transfer which is submitted with the relevant

share certificate to, and acknowledged by or on behalf of, the Company.

(d) All unclaimed dividends and distributions shall be forfeited to the Company after a period of twelve years following their

respective declarations.

2. Financial year and annual statements of account

(a) The financial year shall be the calendar year.

(b) Annually within four months after closing of the preceding financial year, the Management Board shall draw up and

make available the balance sheet and revenue account with separate notes thereon. Although not included in the

Articles of Association the semi-annual accounts will be available within two months of the close of the first six months

of the year in order to comply with the Decree on the Supervision of the Investment Institutions.
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As of the date of the notice for the annual general meeting of Shareholders until the end of such meeting, the

annual accounts together with the management report shall be available for inspection by the persons who have

by statute a right of inspection.

3. The annual and semi-annual accounts and reports will be available at the offices of the Management Board

Director and of F&C Asset Management plc, 80 George Street, Edinburgh, generally in the first weeks of April and

August respectively.

4. General meetings of shareholders

A general meeting shall be held each year before the end of June.

The agenda of that meeting shall contain inter alia the following items:

(a) Report of the Management Board on the affairs of the Company and its administration in the past financial year.

(b) Adoption of the annual accounts.

(c) Fixing of the appropriation of profit.

(d) Discharge of the member of the Management Board and members of the Supervisory Board.

(e) Filling of existing vacancies.

General meetings shall also be held whenever the Management Board or the Supervisory Board deem necessary.

Notice shall be given with due observance of the statutory notice period.

Notice shall be given in such manner as shall be authorised by (Dutch) Law as well as in accordance with the

regulations of the regulated market(s) where the shares of the Company are admitted to trading.

5. Voting rights

(a) Every shareholder shall be entitled to receive notice of, and to attend and vote at, any general meeting.

(b) Every sum of one €0.46 nominal in shares shall entitle the holder to cast one vote, whether in person or by proxy.

A proxy need not be a shareholder. The form of proxy must provide for two-way voting on all resolutions other than

those relating to procedure.

(c) Resolutions of the shareholders shall be passed by a simple majority of votes cast except (i) in the case of any

resolution which is to be proposed for the alteration of the Articles of Association or the dissolution of the

Company (any such resolution being proposed only by the Supervisory Board), a majority representing at least

three-fourths of the votes cast at the meeting is required; and (ii) in the case of a resolution to appoint, dismiss or

suspend a member of the Management Board contrary to the recommendation of the Supervisory Board, a

majority representing at least two-thirds of the votes cast at the meeting is required and such majority shall

represent more than one-half of the issued share capital of the Company.

(d) The Chairman of the general meeting shall establish the number of votes to which each of the persons attending is

entitled and how many votes have been cast in favour of or against a resolution.

6. Borrowing powers

The Management Board shall restrict the borrowing of the Company and exercise all voting and other rights or powers

of control exercisable by the Company in relation to its subsidiary companies so as to secure (as regards subsidiary

companies so far as by such exercise they can secure) that the aggregate amount for the time being remaining

undischarged of all monies borrowed by the group (being the Company and its subsidiaries for the time being),

exclusive of monies borrowed by the Company from and for the time being owing to any such subsidiary or by any

such subsidiary from and for the time being owing to the Company or another such subsidiary, shall not at any time

without the previous sanction of the general meeting of the Company exceed an amount equal to the aggregate of:
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(a) Twenty per cent of the book value of the securities portfolio of the Company and its subsidiaries (if any); and

(b) Sixty per cent of the book value of the real property of the Company and its subsidiaries (if any), where the monies

borrowed are secured by mortgage on that property.

7.Directors

(a) The Company shall have a Management Board consisting of one or more members and a Supervisory Board

consisting of at least three members. Save as aforesaid, the general meeting shall fix the number of managing

directors and the number of supervisory directors.

(b) The general meeting shall appoint the members of the Management Board upon the recommendation of the

Supervisory Board (subject to (a) above) and shall appoint the members of the Supervisory Board and may remove or

suspend a member of either Board. A member of the Management Board may also be suspended by the Supervisory

Board. Any suspension shall not last longer than three months in total.

(c) The members of the Supervisory Board retire by rotation in accordance with a rotation schedule to be determined by

the Supervisory Board, pursuant to which rotation schedule every member of the Supervisory Board is a member for a

period not exceeding 4 years.

(d) The salary and other conditions of employment of each Management Board director shall be fixed by the Supervisory

Board. The general meeting may grant remuneration to each member of the Supervisory Board.

(e) Without prejudice to the provisions of the Articles of Association, the Management Board shall be entrusted with the

management of the Company.

(f) The members of the Supervisory Board and Management Board shall be reimbursed for (i) reasonable costs of

conducting a defence against claims based on acts or failures to act in the exercise of their duties, (ii) any damages or

fines payable by them as a result of an act or failure to act as referred to under (i), and (iii) reasonable costs of

appearing in other legal proceedings in which they are involved as current or former director.

(g) The Management Board shall be obliged to act in accordance with the general directives of the Supervisory Board

concerning the financial and investment policy to be followed.

(h) Without prejudice to the other provisions in the Articles of Association concerning approval of resolutions of the

Management Board, the following resolutions of the Management Board shall be subject to the approval of the

Supervisory Board:

(i) the entering into, variation or termination of any investment advisory contract or management contract;

(ii) any borrowing and the giving of any sureties or guarantees;

(iii) the exercise of voting rights on shares in other companies, as far as the Company holds, either directly or indirectly,

30 per cent or more of the issued shares of such companies;

(iv) the institution or defending of legal proceedings or the making of any compromise;

(v) the appointment of executives with signing authority and the determination of their powers and titles;

(vi) the issuing, acquiring or withdrawing of debentures at the expense of the Company; and

(vii) any application for quotation or cancellation of the quotation of shares and debentures of the Company on any

official list of any stock exchange.

(i) Each member of the Management Board shall represent and has authority to bind the Company.

(j) A member of the Management Board must declare to the Supervisory Board any conflict of interest which he may

have with the Company in connection with any matter to be considered by the Management Board and, in such a

case and in other cases of conflict, the Company shall be represented by the member of the Supervisory Board or of

the Management Board so authorised by the Supervisory Board.
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(k) A member of the Supervisory Board who has a conflicting interest with the Company in connection with a resolution to

be considered by the Supervisory Board shall notify the other members of the Supervisory Board prior to the

consideration of, and shall abstain from voting on, such resolution.

(l) The Supervisory Board shall supervise the management of the affairs and the administration of the property by the

Management Board and the general course of the Company’s affairs and business. The Supervisory Board shall also

assist the Management Board with advice.

8. Appropriation of profit

The sum standing to the credit of the other reserve fund shall be available for distribution to the shareholders or remain in

other reserve as the Management Board shall decide on proposal of the Supervisory Board.

9. Dissolution of the Company

(a) In the event of dissolution of the Company by virtue of a resolution of the general meeting, the Management Board

shall be entrusted with the winding-up of the Company’s affairs and the Supervisory Board with the supervision

thereof, unless the general meeting decides otherwise, either at the time of, or during, the liquidation. That meeting

shall also fix the remuneration of the liquidators and of any supervisory directors entrusted with the supervision of the

liquidation.

(b)  During the liquidation the provisions of the Articles of Association shall remain in force so far as possible.

The surplus assets after liquidation will be divided among the holders of shares in proportion to their nominal holdings of

shares.

Warning to shareholders – Boiler Room Scams

In recent years, many companies have become aware that their shareholders have been targeted by unauthorised overseas-based brokers selling what turn out to

be non-existent or high risk shares, or expressing a wish to buy their shares. If you receive unsolicited investment advice or requests:

l Make sure you get the correct name of the person or organisation

l Check that they are properly authorised by the FSA before getting involved by visiting www.fsa.gov.uk/pages/register/

l Report the matter to the FSA by calling 0845 606 1234

l If the calls persist, hang up.

More detailed information on this can be found on the Money Advice Service’s website www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk
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Notice is hereby given that the General Meeting of shareholders of European Assets Trust NV, will be held at the

Sheraton Amsterdam Airport Hotel, Schipol Boulevard 101, Amsterdam, at 1.30 pm on 25 April 2013.

The agenda to be considered is as follows:

1. Opening.

2. Management Board Director’s report for the financial year to 31 December 2012.

3. Adoption of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012.

4. Appropriation of profit for the year ended 31 December 2012.

5. Discharge of the Management Board Director for the management over the last financial year.

6. Discharge of the Supervisory Board Directors for their supervision over the last financial year.

7. To re-appoint Ernst & Young Accountants LLP as auditors to the Company.

8. Retirement and re-appointment of Sir John Ward to the Supervisory Board.

9. Retirement and re-appointment of Neville Cook to the Supervisory Board.

10. Retirement and re-appointment of Giles Warman to the Supervisory Board.

11. Approval of the corporate governance policy of the Company as set out in this annual report.

12. Increase the remuneration of all of the other Directors (excluding the Chairman of the Board whose remuneration
shall remain unchanged) from €23,909 to €24,909 with effect from 1 January 2013 and with effect from 1 March
2013 increase the remuneration of the Director who is also Chairman of Audit to €26,409.

13. Any other business.

14. Closing.

An explanation of the agenda, the annual report for 2012 and the data prescribed by mandatory Dutch law with respect to Sir John

Ward, Neville Cook and Giles Warman are deposited at the offices of FCA Management BV and are available for every shareholder.

To be passed, resolutions numbers 3 to 12 require a simple majority of votes cast.

FCA Management BV

Rotterdam

1 March 2013

A member who is entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a poll, vote on his/her behalf.
Such a proxy need not also be a member of the Company.

A Form of Proxy for use by Ordinary shareholders is enclosed with this Report. Completion of the Form of Proxy will not prevent a shareholder from
attending the meeting and voting in person.

Holders of Bearer Shares may obtain a letter of entitlement from KASBANK NV on deposit of their share certificates or upon receipt of a deposit advice from
a bank certifying that the stated number of share certificates is in its possession and will remain so until the conclusion of the meeting. Registered
shareholders do not need to apply for such a letter of entitlement.

No member of the Supervisory Board has a contract of service with the Company.

No member of the Supervisory Board has a material interest in any contract to which the Company is a party.
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Chamber of Commerce

Rotterdam, nr. 33239987

Supervisory Board

Sir John Ward CBE (Chairman)
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